

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2017

Parents' Perception of a School-Based Inclusion Program for their Children with Autism

Sarah Lynn Ary Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Part of the Psychology Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Social and Behavioral Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral dissertation by

Sarah Ary

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Patti Barrows, Committee Chairperson, Psychology Faculty Dr. Elizabeth Clark, Committee Member, Psychology Faculty Dr. Bonnie Nastasi, University Reviewer, Psychology Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2017

Abstract

Parents' Perceptions of a School-Based Inclusion Program for their Children with Autism

by

Sarah Lynn Ary

MA, Norfolk State University, 2005 BA, Columbia College, 2003

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Psychology

Walden University

May 2017

Abstract

As the number of students diagnosed with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) increases, many classrooms are turning to an inclusion model of learning. To gain the perspective of program users rather than providers, this study explored parents' perceptions of the inclusion model. Pearlin's stress process model served as the theoretical framework for this study. Ten parents in Pennsylvania were recruited via snowball sampling for participation, and 7 completed the study. Parents completed a short demographic questionnaire and then participated in individual interviews. The research questions were concerned with the lived experiences of parents of children with autism enrolled in inclusion programs or who have participated in inclusion programs within the past 5 years, their perceived roles, and the stresses they felt in those roles. Transcripts were iteratively reviewed to identify consistent themes across interviews. Findings from this study showed: (a) the inclusion model of education had both positive and negative effects on different children diagnosed with autism, (b) the development of emotional skills of children with autism enriched their participation and social relationships with other people, and (c) a strengthened support system for children with autism must be advocated through accessible information and services. These findings support available literature, which is largely against the inclusion model. Findings suggest that support systems for information dissemination should be strengthened, and educators should develop their emotional skills to help students with disabilities.

Parents' Perceptions of a School-Based Inclusion Program for their Children with Autism

by

Sarah Lynn Ary

MA, Norfolk State University, 2005 BA, Columbia College, 2003

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Philosophy
Psychology

Walden University

May 2017

Dedication

To God for granting me the tenacity to get through this project even when I did not think I would. In addition, I want to dedicate this dissertation to Ayric Bailey diagnosed (September 29, 2005). To my wonderful siblings who had to hear me complain every day about my fatigue and fears of not finishing. When I did not believe it would be over, they promised that it would all be over some day and that day is here. This dedication would not be complete without mentioning my parents, Foster and Cladine Ary. Although they never told me I could, they never told me I could not and pushed me when I did not want to continue. I thank them for giving me life and expecting the most of me even when I myself had doubt.

Acknowledgments

I would like to acknowledge all the instructors who assisted with guiding me through this dissertation process. I would also like to acknowledge the parents that participated in this research study. I thank them for allowing me to listen to their stories and for sharing their experiences. My hope is that my work will make a difference and shape the way that students with autism and their families receive assistance from the educational system. Lastly, I want to acknowledge my family and friends that have encouraged me throughout this process. Their kind and sometimes harsh words kept me going more than they know.

Table of Contents

Li	st of Tables	V
Ch	napter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
	Background of the Study	6
	Problem Statement	9
	Nature of the Study	10
	Purpose of the Study	11
	Research Questions	11
	Theoretical Framework	11
	Definitions of Key Terms	12
	Assumptions	14
	Scope and Delimitations	15
	Limitations	15
	Significance	16
	Summary	17
Ch	napter 2: Review of Related Literature	19
	Introduction	19
	Literature Search Strategy	20
	Theoretical Foundation	20
	Autism	26
	Prevalence of Autism	29
	History of Inclusion	31

PL 94-142	31
Segregation	31
Special Education	32
Inclusion	33
Scholarly Opinion on Full Inclusion	36
Teachers' Views of Inclusion	40
Parents' View of Inclusion.	46
Parental Involvement	52
Role Conflicts	55
Working Together	58
Support for Inclusion	61
Summary and Conclusions	61
Chapter 3: Research Method	64
Introduction	64
Research Design and Rationale	64
Role of the Researcher	66
Methodology	66
Instrumentation	68
Data Analysis	70
Issues of Trustworthiness	71
Ethical Procedures	72
Summary	73

Ch	napter 4: Analysis	74
	Introduction	74
	Setting	75
	Demographics	76
	Data Collection	78
	Data Analysis	78
	Theme 1	83
	Theme 2	85
	Theme 3	86
	Evidence of Trustworthiness	88
	Results	89
	Research Question 1	89
	Research Question 2	91
	Research Question 3	93
	Summary	97
Cł	napter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations	98
	Introduction	98
	Interpretation of the Findings	99
	Research Question 1	. 100
	Research Question 2	. 104
	Research Question 3	. 108
	Limitations of the Study	114

Recommendations	115
Implications	116
Conclusion	121
References	122
Appendix A: Semistructured Guide for Phone Interviews	141

List of Tables

Table 1. Demographics of the Participants	77
Table 2. Major Themes and Important Perceptions	79
Table 3. Emerging Codes	81
Table 4. Codes and Percentage of Occurrence	82
Table 5. Emerging Categories	83

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Blumberg et al. (2013) defined autism spectrum disorder (ASD) as a set of complex neurodevelopment disorders that hinder—mildly to severely—a person's social interaction and communication with others. Some examples of ASD included autistic disorder, Asperger's disorder, and pervasive developmental disorder (Blumberg et al., 2013). Historically, children with ASD and other similar learning disabilities were treated as regular children who could not keep up with their peers, thus they fended for themselves in an educational system unsuited to their needs (Naraian, 2011). This issue could explain why researchers have historically found children with ASD to have poor postsecondary employment and education outcomes (Shattuck et al., 2012).

In recent decades, researchers have gained more information about these disorders, which led to more specialized educational policies, as mandated by the establishment of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) in 1990.

Leadership reauthorized the IDEA (1990) in 2004 to the IDEA Act of 2004. Government created IDEA (1990, 2004) to assist students with disabilities who might have experienced issues that hindered their academic progress in previous years (Solis, Vaughn, Swanson, & McCulley, 2012; U.S. Department of Education, 2011; White, 2009). Government used the IDEA (1990, 2004) to mandate that academic leadership must provide special education services for students with special needs. Based on this condition, leadership should design education services for the unique needs of students with learning disabilities, such as ASD, to provide them with the opportunity to learn the

same content as their nondisabled peers in an environment suited to their special needs (Smith & Tyler, 2010).

The Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC, 2012, p. 11) found a 23% increase in the number of children diagnosed with an ASD in the United States between the years 2006 and 2008. While this increase would seem to heighten the need for more special education programs, a number of scholars have noted that, rather than separating students with ASD and other learning disabilities from the general student population, educators have started to follow the *inclusion model*. Leadership, following this model, place normally achieving students in the same classroom as their peers with learning disabilities (Solis et al., 2012). Friend (2007) defined *inclusion* as the integration of the disabled students into general education classroom with the appropriate assistance given to increase access to the general education curriculum. Researchers noted inclusion as a popular trend in educational reform, occurring since the 1980s (Friend, Cook, Hurley-Chamberlain, & Shamberger, 2010).

Leadership reauthorized the IDEA Act of 1990 in 2004; hence, the most recent version of the act is the IDEA Act of 2004, which revised the law to align better with the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act (2002). In the IDEA Act of 2004, leadership made the point that students with disabilities should be educated with their nondisabled peers, otherwise called the least restrictive environment (LRE) mandate (Solis et al., 2012). The mandate states:

To the maximum extent appropriate, children with disabilities, including children in public or private institutions or other care facilities, are educated with children

who are not disabled, and special classes, separate schooling, or other removal of children with disabilities from the regular educational environment occurs only when the nature or severity of the disability of the child is such that education in regular classes with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily (IDEA, 2004, p. 1).

Based on this mandate, the primary goal of special education programs involves reintegrating special education students back into the general student population, as much and as soon as possible. Leadership may offer supplemental aids and services separately to these disabled students to encourage their full inclusion in general education classrooms (Solis et al., 2012).

The government encouraged this view with the reauthorization of the NCLB Act (2002). The government increased the pressure on state policy makers and school administrators to integrate students with learning disabilities into general education classrooms as soon as possible (Allison, 2012). Researchers contended that the inclusion of students with learning disabilities with their nondisabled peers promoted heightened self-esteem and better social skills (Nutbrown & Clough, 2009; Sayeski, 2009). Accordingly, these insights have been instrumental in increasing the popularity of inclusion, with some advocates of this model have stated that all students with disabilities should experience inclusion with the general student population (Fuchs, Fuchs, & Stecker, 2010).

Due to the increase of students diagnosed with ASD—among other learning disabilities—and the current emphasis on the inclusion model, as mandated by the IDEA

Act (2004) and NCLB Act (2002), many educators currently face a shift in their classroom environment. Teachers, originally trained to work with general education students, now handle classes with students who might have faced placement in special education programs in previous years. As a result, leadership must provide support for the disabled students and for general education teachers who have not received any special training for dealing with students diagnosed with learning disabilities (Conderman & Johnston-Rodriguez; Friend et al., 2010). This lack of confidence derived from general education teachers who expressed that they did not have the requisite training and capabilities to guide disabled students to academic success (Nimante & Tubele, 2010).

Some researchers have noted their reservations about the inclusion model (Allison, 2012; Pasha, 2012; Rothstein, 2000). Rothstein (2000) pointed out that for certain students with disabilities, inclusion did not mean one must use the least restrictive environment for them. Allison (2012) further noted that some parents and educators might believe that some students' disabilities were too severe to integrate successfully into a general education classroom, thus requiring a separate educational setting. Pasha (2012) also revealed that certain factors were required for the inclusion model to be successful. These factors could include teachers having the will to commit to inclusion, teachers and administrators having developmental opportunities to learn about inclusion, and leadership providing supportive school policies (Pasha, 2012). Without these conditions, an inclusion model would likely fail. Pasha's (2012) findings coincided with the findings of Watnick and Sacks's (2006) study. Watnick and Sacks (2006) found that educators, who exhibited negative feelings toward inclusion, felt that way primarily due

to the lack of staff and the proper training about ways in which to implement the model effectively.

This lack of understanding or concern about the level of aptitude that general education teachers might possess, regarding the handling of special education students, might also dissuade parents from responding positively to an inclusion model. Most disabled students cannot provide reliable assessments on the progress of their education not only because of their disability, but also due to them being students. Teachers should involve the parents of these students in the education process due to this issue coupled with the concern about the lack of appropriate training for general education teachers on how to handle such students.

For this study, I sought to gain an accurate assessment about the education that disabled students received under the inclusion model to determine its efficacy. This could not come from the teachers themselves, as a large number of them lacked the training to teach disabled students; therefore, they might have bias in that regard. Additionally, identifying a learning program's efficacy for disabled students might have more of an impact for the students themselves. Therefore, I developed a better inquiry by investigating the perceptions of the learning program users, rather than the learning program providers. As I could not investigate the students themselves, I chose the parents as the most convenient and useful population for this study. Teachers who struggle to educate those who have special needs could gain aid from this study by learning ways in which to ease the burden for general education and the students themselves by providing the opportunity for improvements in the students education.

The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an inclusion model, using the phenomenological design. The results of this study provided better insights into how these parents view the benefits and the shortcomings associated with the inclusion model, with regard to their children with ASD, and helped reveal what they feel should be given to their children with ASD to ensure their academic success. In turn, these insights might affect positive social change by providing both parents and educators with the necessary information to work together and allow the successful educational progression of students with ASD.

The rest of this chapter includes a background of autism and the learning programs developed to address the education of these students, the statement of the problem, the nature of the study, the purpose of the study, and research questions that served as a guide for the completion of this study. I also discuss the theoretical framework and give the definitions for the pertinent terms used in this study. I also present and explain the assumptions, scope, delimitations, and limitations of this study. I conclude with the significance of the study and a summary of this chapter.

Background of the Study

In 1943, Kanner first used the term *autism*. By giving name to a disability that had only been glimpsed at previously and often stigmatized, he provided an opening for research that aimed to help the individuals with the disorder. Kanner (1943) provided defining characteristics of autism over 60 years ago, and these characteristics have largely held up in current times. These characteristics include children with autism

presenting difficulties in social situations, having a hard time communicating their needs and desires with others, and behaving in obsessive and repetitive patterns, manifested by extreme aloofness and indifference (Church, 2009; Kanner, 1943; National Institute of Mental Health, 2011).

Naraian (2011) stated that in the history of education, students classified as disabled were often taught in separate classrooms, away from their nondisabled peers, which may contribute to the decreased likelihood that they become reintegrated into a general education classroom in the future. This has led to the development of the inclusion model, where disabled students are placed in the least restrictive environment, with the goal of reintegration back into the general education populace as soon as possible (Solis et al., 2012). A shift in the way disabled students are educated has been affected in recent years, and the inclusion model has been argued to be the desired method for educating disabled students, according to Friedlander (2009).

In a full inclusion model, disabled students may no longer be separated from their nondisabled peers, thus making disabled students part of the general student population; the only difference being that they receive specific support services that have been tailored to their needs (Mastropieri & Scruggs, 2010). Instead of being separated from their nondisabled peers and being placed into a classroom comprised only of students with disabilities, leadership currently requires students to be placed according to the LRE mandate (McLeskey, Landers, Williamson, & Hoppey, 2010). Meaning, they are placed in general education classrooms, with certain supports for their individual needs provided separately.

It has been contended by some researchers that full inclusion may be able to help mitigate some characteristics of ASD by providing an environment wherein these students would be exposed to peers to interact with in a neutral environment, and expedite interventions on their social interaction and behavioral issues (Mazurik-Charles & Stefanou, 2010; Welsh, Park, Widaman, & O'Neil, 2001). With the passage of IDEA Act (1990, 2004), the presence of legislative support for the inclusion model made it into the predominant model for education students with disabilities (McLeskey, Landers et al., 2010; McLeskey, Landers, Williamson, & Hoppey, 2011; McLeskey, Rosenberg, & Westling, 2010).

While there have been concerns about the inclusion model of education, most advocates and educational professionals support the general intent of the LRE mandate (McLeskey et al., 2011). Given the increasing rates of children being diagnosed with ASD and their right to have a decent education, it is therefore important to ensure that they are given the same opportunity accorded to their nondisabled peers to be included in general education classrooms and achieve academic success there by placing accountability measures to make educational programs not just inclusive, but effective as well (McLeskey & Waldron, 2011a).

It would be beneficial to explore the perceptions of the parents of students with ASD to help teachers better understand the educational needs of these students. The perceptions of parents are important, given that the LRE mandate and its attendant programs were developed to address the education of students with autism and their right to have a decent education. The best way to determine such programs' efficacy would be

to investigate the perceptions of the students themselves; as this is not possible, the next best thing would be to reveal the perceptions of the people who are most often closest to them and would have strong ideas about what benefits the children: these would be the parents. This assessment of the role of parents as co-therapists in the treatment and planning stages of their children with ASD has been supported by seminal works by Lowry and Whitman (1989) and Marcus and Schopler (1989).

Problem Statement

There is limited information on the parental perspective regarding children with ASD and their experiences with inclusion programs (McLeskey, Landers et al., 2010; McLeskey et al., 2011; McLeskey, Rosenberg et al., 2010). Much of the scholarly research on the inclusion model has focused on the perspectives of teachers and administrators. The perspectives of both the children and their parents have largely been ignored. I addressed this gap in research, as the inclusion model has become the predominant model for students with disabilities.

The role of the parents regarding their disabled children's education has not been fully defined; given their role as the primary support system of their children, this is a significant gap in understanding. An implication of this gap is that, as the primary advocate of their children, parents of disabled students could provide certain insights that could deliver more effective tools and methods to help their children achieve academic success, especially providing insights about their behaviors outside school. The teachers of these students were likely not privy to these behaviors; therefore by revealing these

behaviors, this study could better equip teachers on how best to manage disabled students and minimize the barriers between them and full inclusion.

Nature of the Study

I used a phenomenological research design in this study. Phenomenology in general originated from a philosophical perspective and is used as an approach for qualitative research (Trochim & Donnelly, 2006). I chose this design instead of a quantitative research design because it provides descriptive recordings of subjective lived experiences and perceptions, as opposed to the focus on quantifiable statistics and numbers offered in quantitative designs, as suggested by Vivilaki and Johnson's (2008) research. My goal in this phenomenological study was to explore the reality of the participants, in order to reveal common life experiences. This approach allowed me to comprehend a given phenomenon through a fresh perspective and conduct an in-depth exploration of a phenomenon that I could not achieved through applying a quantitative design. Researchers suggested that researchers use this method when studying a phenomenon (Leedy & Ormond, 2001; Moustakas, 1994).

Since a gap exists in scholarly literature about parental perspectives of the education of their disabled children (Trochim & Donnelly, 2006; Vivilaki & Johnson, 2008), I justified the use of a qualitative phenomenological research design, as it best accomplished the purpose of this study. The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an inclusion model, using the phenomenological design.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an inclusion model, using the phenomenological design. To collect data, semistructured, open-ended interviews with the parents of children with ASD who are currently enrolled in a school with an inclusion program for disabled students or who have participated in the inclusion program within the past 5 years. Parents in the study resided in Pennsylvania. They were either the mother or the father of children; I included the parents as long as they self-identified as the primary caregiver to their child with ASD.

Research Questions

The research questions that guided this qualitative research were as follows:

- **RQ1.** What are the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of students with ASD regarding the efficacy of the inclusion model of education on their children's academic success?
- **RQ2.** What are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding their role in the inclusion model of education?
- **RQ3**. What are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding the stressors that may result from their perceived roles in the inclusion model of education?

Theoretical Framework

The stress process model, first introduced by Pearlin, Morton, Lieberman,
Menaghan, and Mullan (1981) and developed by Pearlin (1999), served as the theoretical

framework for this study. After investigating the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of students with autism regarding the efficacy of the inclusion model of education and their role within it, I used the stress process model to analyze the stresses that resulted from their perceived roles in the inclusion model. In this model, three factors contribute to the stress process: *stressors*, *moderators* or *mediators*, and *stress outcomes* (Pearlin et al., 1981).

Stressors, stemming from external environmental factors, social factors, or internal factors (i.e., biology and psychology), include factors that force a specific individual to be exposed to certain events that would necessitate adaptation on their end (Pearlin, 1999). Moderators or mediators are the social or personal factors that modulate the effects of certain stressors, strengthening or weakening the effects based on individual factors. Hence, stress outcomes include the psychological, emotional, or physiological effects manifested by an individual after being filtered through specific moderators or mediators (Pearlin, 1989, 1999; Pearlin et al., 1981).

Definitions of Key Terms

Autism spectrum disorder: Autism spectrum disorder refers to a set of complex neurodevelopment disorders that hinder—mildly or severely—a person's social interaction and communication with others. Some examples of ASD include autistic disorder, Asperger's syndrome, and pervasive developmental disorder (Blumberg et al., 2013).

Inclusion: Inclusion refers to the integration of the disabled students into general education classroom, with the appropriate assistance given in order to increase their access to the general education curriculum (Solis et al., 2012).

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act: Leadership passed the IDEA (1990) to cater to students with disabilities that may prevent them from academic success (Solis et al., 2012; U.S. Department of Education, 2011; White, 2009). Leadership reauthorized this act in 2004 to the IDEA Act of 2004. Leadership designed the act for these education services to serve the unique needs of students with learning disabilities, such as ASD, to provide them the opportunity to learn the same as their nondisabled peers in an environment that is suited to their special needs (Smith & Tyler, 2010).

Least restrictive environment mandate: Least restrictive environment mandate consists of a mandate that states that the primary goal of special education programs is to reintegrate special education students back into the general student population as much and as soon as possible. Supplemental aids and services may be offered separately to these disabled students in order to hasten their full inclusion in general education classrooms (Solis et al., 2012).

Moderators/mediators. These are the social or personal factors that modulate the effects of certain stressors, strengthening or weakening their effects based on individual factors (Pearlin, 1989, 1999; Pearlin et al., 1981).

Stress Outcomes: Stress outcomes include the psychological, emotional, or physiological effects, as manifested by an individual after being filtered through their specific moderators or mediators (Pearlin, 1989, 1999; Pearlin et al., 1981).

Stressors: Stressors entail factors that stem from external (environmental, social) or internal (biology, psychology) factors that force a certain individual to face exposure to certain events that necessitate adaptations on their end (Pearlin, 1989, 1999; Pearlin et al., 1981).

Assumptions

Assumptions made for this study included the following:

- I assumed that all responses by these participants remained sincere and truthful to the best of their knowledge.
- Participants were knowledgeable about the inclusion model.
- Parents' understood the need for their children with autism to be in a special
 education program, including the inclusion model in a public school setting to
 support their children to achieve academic and behavioral success.
- Parents chose to have their children with autism attend a public school rather than a private school that might not have an inclusion program.
- The in-depth phone interviews were appropriate to explore parents' lived experiences of a school-based inclusion program for their children with autism; the parents' lived experiences and perceptions regarding the efficacy of the inclusion model of education for their children's academic success; the perceptions and lived experiences of parents about their role in the inclusion model of education; and the parents' lived experiences and perceptions regarding the stresses that may result from their perceived roles in the

- inclusion model of education; parents' experiences with teachers and staff at their childrens' schools.
- The interview questions assisted in collecting the correct information for the research questions.
- The semi structured interview questions were phrased in such a way that parents understood what was being asked of them.
- The results of the study would lead to positive social change.

Scope and Delimitations

The scope of this qualitative phenomenological study was the parents of students with ASD, currently enrolled in a public school that used the inclusion model for its disabled students. These parents resided in Pennsylvania. By delimiting the participants of this study to a specific geographical location, the results of this study might not be generalizable to other parents of other children with disabilities that live in other areas. The final delimitation for this study was that the participants were the primary caregiver for the student with ASD and, as such, might be biased due to certain cultural or demographic factors inherent in lived experiences.

Limitations

The main limitation for this study was the honesty of the participants and their respective capabilities to articulate their lived experiences and perceptions regarding the phenomena of the inclusion model as it related to their children with ASD. Another limitation was the selection criteria for individuals to participate in the study. These participants were limited by the requirement that they lived within Pennsylvania. A final

limitation of the study was the broad range of acceptable sample sizes within the context of phenomenological methodology. Marshall (1996) and Creswell (2013) argued that as few as 1 to 5, and as many as 50 to 100 participants, were acceptable; moreover, each range resulted in its own level of saturation. While I intended to recruit 12 parents for this study, seven parents completed the study, which remained within the acceptable range for phenomenological research, according to both Marshall (1996) and Creswell (2013). After continued attempts to reach 12 participants failed, I analyzed the seven interview transcripts. I achieved saturation when no new themes emerged that would offer further understanding.

Significance

The CDC (2012, p. 11) stated that a 23% increase occurred in the number of children diagnosed with an ASD in the United Status. Recently, educators have adopted the inclusion model, as required by the IDEA (2004) and the LRE mandate. This adoption meant that normally achieving students faced placement in the same classroom as their peers with learning disabilities, with the final goal being full reintegration for these disabled students back into the general student population (Solis et al., 2012).

This goal might be difficult to achieve given that, as more and more children with ASD faced placement in general classrooms, teachers who might not have received special training might find it difficult to educate these children. The continued prevalence of the inclusion model, coupled with the emphasis placed by scholarly literature on the perceptions of teachers and administrators, might not provide a complete picture of the actual efficacy of this learning program. As the children themselves could not provide

their own perceptions, I required assistance from these children's parents since they represented the primary support system for their children. By revealing the lived experiences and perceptions of these parents of students with ASD in an inclusion program, parents could help provide some insight on how teachers could best accommodate students with ASD. This accommodation could be shown through their knowledge of the behavior of their children outside of school. Through such insights, educators and policy makers could to ensure that inclusion programs deliver on the aims to ensure that these students were accorded the same opportunities for learning as their nondisabled peers.

Summary

Chapter 1 provided an introduction to the research topic and a description of the problem, purpose, and background of the study. The number of students with ASD who were educated by schools with an inclusion program rose dramatically throughout the years. For this educational model to be effective, teachers and parents must work closely together, given their respective roles in the life of the student with ASD. While researchers examined teachers' perspectives and attitudes about the inclusion model, little research has focused on parents' lived experiences and perceptions regarding the inclusion model as it relates to their child with ASD (Trochim & Donnelly, 2006; Vivilaki & Johnson, 2008).

The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an inclusion model, using the phenomenological design. By revealing these parents'

perceptions regarding inclusion, I gained insights on how best to foster healthy learning environments for children with ASD that could drastically improve the quality of education being provided within an inclusion setting. I chose a qualitative phenomenological research design to help gain better understanding the perceptions and lived experiences of the participants.

Chapter 2 will provide a review of relevant literature. Chapter 3 will present a further elaboration on the methodology and research design to be used for this study. Results and discussion are presented in Chapters 4 and 5.

Chapter 2: Review of Related Literature

Introduction

Although researchers once considered autism rare, it has gained an increased interest within the education setting due to its heightened prevalence in recent years. Within the last few years, the CDC (2012) found that the number of children diagnosed with ASD significantly increased, and when adults were included in the prevalence estimate, the number of individuals with autism equated to well over one million. The U.S. Government Accountability Office (2005) stated, "With the increase in the number of students with ASD, so did the need to understand the most effective way to provide services under IDEA" (p. 1). Currently, students with ASD receive as much of their education as deemed possible in the same classroom as their nondisabled peers.

Students with ASD could receive this inclusive learning largely due to the regulations set by IDEA (2004), which addressed the need to provide services in the LRE. The LRE is federally mandated and requires that children with disabilities receive as much of their educations as possible in the same environment as their nondisabled peers (Osgood, 2005).

In this study, I examined the perception of the inclusion model from parents who have an autistic child participating in the inclusion learning model. This chapter includes a literature review on the characteristics of autism spectrum disorders, the incidence and prevalence of autism, historical milestones in inclusion, and the IDEA (1990). The review will provide further insight into the challenges faced in implementing the

inclusion model, parental views of inclusion, and studies supporting inclusion services for students with autism.

Literature Search Strategy

I conducted the literature search for this study using the internet, which included both peer-reviewed journals and primary data sources. All sources were published in the last 5 years, except for seminal literature on certain topics. I conducted the search for relevant literature using the following terms: autism, ASD, inclusion, diagnosis, parents, parental stresses, stressors, motivators, mediators, learning disabilities, perception, special education, least restrictive environments, LRE, prevalence, and advocacy. I used these terms because of the close relation to the current study.

I used the following databases within the Walden University library: EBSCOhost, ERIC, ProQuest, and ProQuest dissertation database. I chose these databases because these provided information closely related to the current study within the psychology/social service field and field of education. There was an abundance of information on the topic of inclusion of students with learning disabilities and those with mental retardation. However, there was a paucity of information that focused exclusively on students with autism or investigated the parents' perception of the inclusion model for their children (Trochim & Donnelly, 2006; Vivilaki & Johnson, 2008).

Theoretical Foundation

The stress process model, first introduced by Pearlin et al. (1981) and developed in greater detail by Pearlin (1999), served as the theoretical framework for this study.

This model includes three factors that describe the stress process: stressors, moderators or mediators, and stress outcomes (Pearlin et al., 1981).

Stressors include factors that arise from external aspects (e.g., an individual's immediate environment or social context) or factors that arise from internal aspects (e.g., an individual's biology and psychology) that force the individual to face exposure to certain events that necessitate adaptation on their end. Moderators or mediators include the social or personal factors that modulate the effects of certain stressors, strengthening or weakening the effects based on individual factors. Stress outcomes include the psychological, emotional, or physiological effects exhibited by an individual after considering the effects of their distinctive moderators or mediators (Pearlin, 1989, 1999; Pearlin et al., 1981).

There are two main categories of stressors: event stressors and chronic stressors. Event stressors are stressors that happen without the full expectation of the individual, often resulting in a stress outcome (Pearlin, 1999). Some examples of this are divorce or experiencing a hurricane. There are distinctions between the reasons or circumstances behind an event stressor as thee relate to an individual (Pearlin & Skaff, 1996). For instance, a divorce preceded by long periods of fighting and disagreements may have different results regarding stress compared to a divorce necessitated by a romantic partner having an extramarital affair. Furthermore, the reasoning behind an event stressor may affect whether it creates a stress outcome in an individual.

Chronic stressors are stressors that include many different kinds of strains, such as status strains, role strains, ambient strains, and quotidian strains (Pearlin & Skaff, 1996).

As opposed to event stressors that emerge at determinable points in time, chronic stressors arise stealthily or may be present over long periods of time without being perceived by the individual (Pearlin, 1995). These chronic stressors may be due to the consequences of rigid systems that promote inequality, such as class or institutionalized social roles and the various norms and activities contained therein, and also out of social networks, such as one's neighborhood, community, and larger social environment (Pearlin, 1995). These stressors, even without being perceived, may continue within a person, whether they verbalize the issue or not.

Status strains are problems that emerge primarily and clearly from an individual being ensconced within a rigid and hierarchical social structure (Pearlin, 1995). An obvious example of this would include abject poverty. The placement of an individual into the status of someone under poverty could increase the likelihood of them experiencing stressors. This would makes them more susceptible to these stressors by limiting their personal and social resources that could perhaps allow them to deal better with those stressors (Pearlin, 1995). This could lead to stronger and more lasting stress outcomes, resulting in individuals experiencing deeper states of stress (Pearlin, 1995). Other examples of this kind of strain would include strains from gender, age, race, and ethnicity (Pearlin, 1995). These factors are pervasive and often used to justify sweeping judgments on individuals, where society may use their status to marginalize them (Pearlin, 1995).

Role strains are problems that result from stressors in the major institutional roles, such as family and occupational roles (Pearlin, 1983). Some examples of this kind of

strain include an individual facing certain demands beyond their physical capacity or stamina, or wide discrepancies between the completion of a job relative to the rewards the individual perceives that they get for that role. Moreover, Pearlin (1995) stated that if an individual worked a difficult job that involved lots of abstract thinking and specialized skills, it might result in some kind of role strain if that person was paid the same as an unskilled worker. Pearlin (1995) emphasized that this kind of strain could only be present given certain structures. Therefore, what happens during a role strain is that stressors influence more than just a single individual, but also other members in a given role set.

Pearlin (1995) provided an example of the gradual changing of roles within a family as time passes. For example, teenagers may feel role strain since they may perceive that they are treated similar to babies by their parents, in opposition to their own perceptions that they are fully grown adults. Years later, those same teenagers may help bring about that kind of role strain in their parents who, in their old age, are often treated similar to babies. Thus, "The actions and expectations guiding relationships with a role set normally undergo constant realignment and restructuring" (Pearlin, 1995, p. 8).

This may also be apparent in conflicts between incompatible demands of different roles. An example here may be a nurse who is not only responsible for the completion of their responsibilities to the hospital, but to the family members and loved ones of their patients as well. If a nurse chooses to commit fully to the role set up by their employing hospital, that specific role may involve completely different responsibilities, from the perspective of the patients or their family members (Pearlin, 1995).

In the parents' roles as primary caregivers and support systems for their disabled children, potential conflicts about their role may result in stress outcomes for parents of students with ASD, which may lead to stress outcomes, given certain perceptions and experiences. I designed this study to explore the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of children with ASD enrolled in a school with an inclusion program, in order to reveal if they perceive any stressors in the context of the inclusion program and its effect on their children and themselves (Pearlin, 1995).

Contextual strains include strains that arise from the interaction of an individual with the environment that surrounds them, such as their general community or neighborhood (Pearlin, 1995). Pearlin (1995) provided the following example: In the exploratory qualitative interviews he conducted, the elderly participants experienced trepidation and uncertainty, naming threats to security as salient strains to their well-being.

Lastly, quotidian strains include the kinds of strain that all individuals encounter and deal with in everyday life. Pearlin (1995) described these strains as arising from ordinary logistical activities at home or outside of the home. For instance, the responsibility to clean one's own room or house cannot be avoided if one wishes to live in a clean environment. However, for many individuals, this is not an activity that brings them happiness; rather, it strains them. Public transportation delays, slow-moving pedestrian traffic, and long waits for restaurant reservations are examples of this kind of strain.

The kind of strain most relevant to this study was Pearlin's (1999) conception of role conflict, wherein an individual is exposed to stressors derived from inconsistencies or discrepancies between their perceived roles. Researchers could use the stress process model to postulate that a role conflict exposes one to stressors, which would then result in the manifestation of stress outcomes (Pearlin, 1999).

Pearlin (1999) used this theoretical framework to purport that individuals were connected to social structures that heavily influenced their lives. The social structures that parents of students with ASD interacted with could be grouped according to the roles such people played in the inclusion model of education (i.e., both general and special education teachers), as well as according to age, race, ethnicity, or socio-economic class.

In this study, I focused on parents who were connected to the social structures of school personnel in the school. In addition to the parents' extraordinary amount of time and effort spent on the general and overall care of their child with autism, school personnel also play a huge role because of the amount of assistance and time provided in the success of the child's academic experience. However, I did not collect these data, as these were not of the purview of this study.

The stress process model is widely used in the medical field to examine the health and well-being of those who care for persons with disabilities or health problems (Pearlin, 1999). Specifically, it provides a framework for measuring the unique burden and risk factors of stress for family members in the position of caring for loved ones (Chronister & Chan, 2006; Dal Santo, Scharlach, & Nielson, 2007; Majerovitz, 2007). I decided that it was appropriate for this study as the roles of the caregivers for students

with ASD fall primarily within two camps: their parents and their teachers. While their parents are considered the primary caregiver, their teachers are also likely to be influential in the caregiving process since they are the ones with whom disabled students spend the most time learning with outside of their home. The resulting conflicts that may ensue from this shared goal on the part of teachers and parents of students with ASD could hinder the academic progress of the disabled student. It may be easy for either caregiving role to slip into the other, causing role conflicts (e.g., teachers behaving similar to parents), if clear guidelines are not made.

The theory's components guided the data analysis in this qualitative research study. While research on similar populations has been completed, these studies were not applicable for this study, as the disabilities studied were different. Further researchers provided insights on how the teachers felt about including any individuals with disabilities, but there have been no studies specifically about teacher's feelings about including autistic children (Trochim & Donnelly, 2006; Vivilaki & Johnson, 2008). There is very limited primary researchers who accounted for how the parents of autistic children perceive the services provided (Trochim & Donnelly, 2006; Vivilaki & Johnson, 2008).

Autism

Kanner (1943) first used the term autism in the modern sense. He used the term to describe the markedly withdrawn and reserved behavior in the children that he studied, characterized by "extreme aloofness" and "total indifference" (Church, 2009, p. 524). There has yet to be a consensus among medical professionals regarding the cause or cure for ASD, which has led to continued gaps in understanding the full nature of the disorder

(Shattuck & Parish, 2008). Mazurik-Charles and Stefanou (2010) noted that the most important aspect in children with ASD involved their social interactions. This aspect would necessitate that students with ASD in inclusive classrooms must receive special services that would help them forge meaningful relationships with their classmates and learn along with their nondisabled peers. According to the DSM-5, to be diagnosed with an ASD, a child must meet, currently or by history, criteria A, B, C, and D:

- Persistent deficits in social communication and social interaction across
 contexts, not accounted for by general developmental delays, and manifested
 by all three of the following:
 - A. Deficits in social-emotional reciprocity,
 - B. Deficits in nonverbal communicative behaviors used for social interaction, and
 - C. Deficits in developing and maintaining relationships.
- 2. Restricted, repetitive patterns of behavior, interests, or activities, as manifested by at least two of the following:
 - A. Stereotyped or repetitive speech, motor movements, or use of objects;
 - B. Excessive adherence to routines, ritualized patterns of verbal or nonverbal behavior, or excessive resistance to change;
 - C. Highly restricted, fixated interests that are abnormal in intensity or focus; and
 - D. Hyper-or hypo-reactivity to sensory input or unusual interest in sensory aspects of environment.

- 3. Symptoms must be present in early childhood (but may not become fully manifest until social demands exceed limited capacities.
- 4. Symptoms together limit and impair everyday functioning.

(American Psychiatric Association, 2013, p. 20)

Although one may observe most of the criteria for autism in a number of children, one must identify this pervasive developmental disorder and confirm it with a medical diagnosis to determine accurately whether an individual truly has autism. This confirmation is important as an error in diagnosis may result in unwanted complexities and difficulties on the future life of the child (American Psychiatric Association, 2013). The age range in which autism develops varies from child to child, but it has been rarely found to show its effects before the age of three.

Some parents, guardians, or nonmedical professionals may be quick to misdiagnose a child with autism due to various factors. Church (2009) recommended that these individuals should pay close attention to certain factors that could help identify whether a specific child might have ASD:

- Does not smile or use other warm, joyful expression by 6 months.
- Does not engage in a back-and-forth sharing of sounds, smiles or other facial expressions by age 9 months.
- Does not babble, point or make meaningful gestures (such as waving or reaching) by age 1.
- Does not speak 1 word by age 16 months.
- Does not combine 2 words by age 2 years.

- Loses previously gained language or social skills.
- Has poor eye contact.
- Does not seem to understand how to play with toys, is attached to 1 specific toy or object, excessively lines up toys or other objects or a combination of these.
- Seems to be hearing impaired (e.g., a child may not respond to his name but mat instead overreact to small inconsequential sounds). (p. 527)

If such factors are found to exist in a specific child, Church (2009) made the recommendation that only then should parents contact medical professionals to test their child for a possible diagnosis of ASD.

Prevalence of Autism

According to the CDC (2012, p. 11), since 2009, a 23% increase occurred in the number of children diagnosed with an ASD in the United Status. Of the 11 sites that completed both the 2006 and 2008 surveillance years, seven exhibited a higher prevalence of ASDs in 2008 compared to the numbers in 2006. In addition, three sites exhibited a close amount of prevalence in 2006 and 2008, while only one site showed a decrease in the prevalence of ASDs (CDC, 2012, p. 11).

The percentage of increase in estimated ASD prevalence was similar for males and females, with 23% for the former and 21% for the latter (CDC, 2012, p. 11). The rates of estimated ASD prevalence also varied according to race, according to the data taken from individual sites, and when combined with data from all the other sites. It was observed that, between the years of 2006 and 2008, there was a 16% increase in ASD

prevalence among non-Hispanic White children, a 42 % increase among non-Hispanic Black children, and a 29% increase among Hispanic children (CDC, 2012, p. 12).

If the results from 2008 were compared to the results of 2002, the numbers became even larger. Of the 13 sites that completed the 2002 and 2008 surveillance years by the CDC (2012, pp. 13-14), 12 showed a significantly higher prevalence of ASDs in 2008 compared with 2002. The combined data revealed that, the ASD prevalence estimates for children aged eight years increased 78% from 2002 to 2008, with an 82% increase for males, and a 63% for females; furthermore, a 70% increase was found among non-Hispanic White children, a 91% increase among non-Hispanic Black children, and a 110% increase among Hispanic children (CDC, 2012, p. 14).

While the definite reason for the prevalence of ASDs and its increase in rates over the years have yet to be found, the large numbers of children with ASD and the rate at which these diagnoses are increasing have made ASD a concern that must be addressed by various sectors in education and public health (CDC, 2012). As debate continues on whether this increase in the number of students with ASD are due to more actual cases of ASDs, better identification and diagnostic practices, or simply cases of intellectual disability, are now classified as autism (Autism Speaks, 2011; Mayo Clinic, 2013). The main issue of children with ASDs continues as a significant concern, especially for the educational community tasked by the initiatives, such as the IDEA Act (2004) and the LEA mandate, to provide services for these students.

History of Inclusion

PL 94-142

Congress passed the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EHA; public law 94-142) in 1975, and this became effective on October 1, 1977. It required all states that received funds through PL 94-142 to provide free appropriate public education for all resident handicapped children, and protect the rights of parents and children in their claiming of these special education services (Jacobs & Walker, 1978). State and local educational agencies must therefore develop plans to identify, locate, and evaluate these prospective students and place them into suitable learning programs, ensuring that they are afforded full educational opportunities (Jacobs & Walker, 1978).

Segregation

The inclusion model is currently the ideal setting of choice for students with autism (Moore, 2011), but this has not always been the case. For instance, Stainback and Smith (2005, p. 12, claimed that it only occurred as recently as the early 1800s when the United States considered students with disabilities unworthy of free education. Because of the prevailing opinion at those times that students with disabilities simply could not learn, they were placed in group homes or state institutions, rather than schools. Furthermore, they received their educations in settings with populations comprised exclusively of individuals with disabilities (Stainback & Smith, 2005).

Hardman, Drew, and Egan (2008) also detailed the many difficulties individuals with disabilities have faced, such as infanticide, institutionalization, physical abuse, slavery, and forced sterilization. Students with disabilities continued to be treated in such

horrible ways and receive their educations in secluded or segregated settings until the passing of the EHA (1975).

Special Education

The EHA (1975) was based on the landmark case *Brown v. Board of Education*, which received its ruling in the early 1950s. Although *Brown v. Board of Education* fought for equal education rights for different races, EHA (1975) expounded on this decision to include students with disabilities (Yell, 2006). The EHA (1975), now the IDEA (1990, 2004), required school districts to provide education to all students with disabilities, at no cost to the family (IDEA, 2004). Once the new laws passed, special education in the United States started to focus primarily on the kind of education where disabled students were educated with the goal of as much integration as possible in the soonest time (Osgood, 2005). This was when the term *mainstreaming* emerged, which described the practice of education disabled students, particularly those with mild disabilities, in the LRE (Alquiraini & Gut, 2012).

However, despite mainstreaming and its effects on affirming the rights of students with disabilities to be engaged in an education in the least restrictive environments, two limitations of mainstreaming were reported by scholars. The first type of limitation in mainstreaming was called *locational mainstreaming*, where students with disabilities faced placement in special classrooms, separate from their nondisabled peers (Alquiraini & Gut, 2012). The second type of limitation in mainstreaming, called *social mainstreaming*, was where students with disabilities could only interact with their nondisabled peers during art time, meal time, and other social activities, while leadership

typically segregated them during other times (Osgood, 2005). With this in mind, leadership used to group children with autism with all other disabled students, although their characteristics were extremely different, thus making their education and future reintegration back into the general student population difficult.

These shortcomings have led to the development of inclusion, which developed out of the same philosophical grounding for the extension of civil rights (Alquiraini & Gut, 2012; Yell, 2006). The key difference between these two models is that while these both seek to allow students with disabilities to receive their education in the least restrictive environments, inclusion allows a more varied population of students with disabilities through integration (Alquiraini & Gut, 2012).

Inclusion

Leadership using the inclusion model, as defined by IDEA (2004), can educate all allowable children with physical, mental, and developmental disabilities in the same general education classroom. Osgood (2005) noted that inclusion represented a better educational model compared to mainstreaming, as it avoided the problems and inefficiencies found to emerge in segregating students with disabilities. Additionally, researchers claimed inclusion possibly reduced the stigma attached to students with disabilities and the isolation, both social and educational, that it might encourage (Alquiraini & Gut, 2012).

There are two kinds of inclusion: regular inclusion or partial inclusion, and full inclusion. According to Bowe (2005), inclusive practice is not always inclusive as it is normally understood; rather, it is a form of integration for students with disabilities,

where they are educated with their nondisabled peers for most of their time in school but provided with specialized services that are specific to their needs outside the general education classroom. This may be viewed as quite similar to the mainstreaming process described earlier. While this leaders employing this process purportedly treat students with disabilities as full members of a general classroom, it also requires that they face treatment that varies from their nondisabled peers. Such specialized services mean that disabled students are occasionally taken out of their regular classes and placed in smaller classes that contain an intense focus on their special needs (Bowe, 2005).

In the full inclusion model, Zigmond, Kloo, and Volonino (2009) stated that disabled students should always receive education in general education classrooms alongside their nondisabled peers as the most desirable option, while continuing to provide special services to students with special needs. In this model, special education is not considered a place where students with disabilities are placed in isolation from their nondisabled peers; rather, it is treated as a service given to certain students, administered through the regular classroom (Feldman, 2008). Therefore, all special services must be taken to disabled students in their regular classrooms, where they are assigned to remain full-time regardless of their disability (Wisconsin Education Association Council, 2011).

What this means is that instead of taking disabled students away from general classrooms for their special needs, which may cause further social isolation and behavioral problems, the services that cater to their needs are brought to them with the minimum amount of disruption possible to their daily routines as regular students. This approach may best address the primary concerns raised by students with disabilities in

special education classrooms. Namely, special students would face isolation from their peers, and this isolation might reduce the likelihood of them facing reintegration into the general student population (Feldman, 2008).

Researchers reported full inclusion as being the preferred method of service delivery in special education, although, researcher also mentioned co-teaching as a supplementary service (Zigmond et al., 2009, p. 196). Mazurik-Charles and Stefanou (2010) supported this claim, adding that fully inclusive classrooms might represent the best location for the services that would help students with disabilities deal with their problems regarding social interaction and behavior.

However, some scholars noted controversies regarding the implementation of full inclusion as the model of education for students with disabilities (Fuchs et al., 2010). With the advent of federal legislation that increases the accountability levels for students of all kinds, the standards these students must live up to achievement levels expected from them. Hence, the leadership amended these to reflect the same standards and achievement levels expected from nondisabled students (Fuchs et al., 2010).

As more and more students with disabilities are educated in general classrooms for most of their school days, it would therefore be important to ensure that the program is effective. McLeskey et al. (2011) discovered that the proportion of students with learning disabilities, currently being educated primarily in a general education classroom, rose to 80%. This increased amount necessitated that the educational system must not fail. The large stakes inherent in any discussion on the education of students with disabilities resulted in numerous diverging opinions on the topic of full inclusion. Some

discussion of the scholarly literature on this topic follows, presenting both sides to the issue.

Scholarly Opinion on Full Inclusion

One may take the fact that the establishment and mandate of the IDEA Act (1990, 2004), NCLB Act (2002) and LRE resulted in higher standards for students with disabilities as a positive development in the continued search for the best method to approach disabled students. However, some scholars have disagreed that full inclusion was realistically possible for students with certain disabilities (McLeskey, 2007; Zigmond, 2003).

McLeskey (2007) and Zigmond (2003) articulated the controversy that surrounds full inclusion. They claimed that as schools continued to integrate students with disabilities with their nondisabled peers in an inclusive classroom, it could become the first and only consideration. This focus included disregarding the efficacy of the programs or the achievements levels attained by their students. McLeskey and Waldron (2011b) contended that it was necessary to determine whether some programs, which sought full inclusion of students with disabilities into general education classrooms, actually produced reasonable outcomes for their students in practice. As McLeskey and Waldron (2011b) have mentioned, inclusion cannot be the sole basis for the education of students with disabilities, especially if the emphasis on inclusion allows the efficacy of the programs or the achievement levels of the special students to be relegated to the background.

One may perceive the term inclusion as good in itself, without reference to the fact of whether it works best and most realistically for students with disabilities, which should be the main concern (McLeskey & Waldron, 2011b). Additionally, researchers discovered full inclusion was more difficult compared to simply enacting the policy. McCarthy, Wiener, and Soodak (2010) interviewed school administrators in 11 public schools who taught both disabled and nondisabled students in a general classroom. The researchers found that the experiences under the segregation system continued to permeate in their current policies. Some of these experiences with segregation consciously and unconsciously informed the school administrators' decisions regarding the inclusion model in their schools, thus undermining the goals of full inclusion (McCarthy et al., 2010). McCarthy et al. (2010) proposed that policies of inclusion in schools could not rely solely on legislation, as the personal and institutional factors that have been in place for long periods continued to exert influence on the school administrators. This resulted in a paradox where they espoused an overt goal of inclusion but might subscribe unconsciously to beliefs that reinforced a philosophy of difference (McCarthy et al., 2010).

Similarly, Lohrmann and Bambara (2006) gave this recommendation as well. They interviewed 14 general education teachers over an 18-month period to reveal teacher perceptions about inclusion to find ways in which it would work effectively. The authors found that the reflections offered by the participants focused on the creation of a culture within that school where the philosophy of inclusion was valued highly.

Lohrmann and Bambara (2006) contended that without this overall school culture,

legislation that mandates inclusion for students with disabilities might not help these students achieve their educational goals (Lohrmann & Bambara, 2006, p. 163). Meaning, mandated inclusion is not enough to compel teachers and education administrators to pursue an ideal of inclusion. Perhaps just as important is that these teachers and education administrators actually believe in the policy.

In a study of students with ASD, von der Embse, Brown, and Fortain (2011) claimed that researchers had yet to measure or evaluate inclusion systemically. The few studies that attempted to measure inclusion relied on subjective teacher reports or made implicit claims for the social aspects of inclusion with any explicit measurements, as in the study by Mancil, Haydon, and Whitby (2009). Teachers, interviewed by Mancil et al. (2009), reported inclusion as successful, without any explicit data being mentioned (von der Embse et al., 2011). Von der Embse et al. (2011) made the point that for inclusion to be possible, leadership must implement effective interventions to reduce the problem behaviors of students with disabilities who might distract nondisabled students.

Conversely, McLeskey and Waldron (2011b) have claimed that full-time inclusive programs did not work for all students with learning disabilities and that resource classes were often the same. In their research of elementary schools and the content areas of reading and mathematics, they found that elementary students with disabilities could make progress academically if they received high quality, intensive instruction in small, homogenous groups for limited periods (McLeskey & Waldron, 2011b). According to their previous research (McLeskey & Waldron, 2011a), the academic progress displayed by such students was significantly greater compared to the

progress found in students with disabilities who have been educated in high quality inclusive settings (Waldron & McLeskey, 1998; Zigmond et al., 1995).

Most importantly, McLeskey and Waldron's (2011b) study bolstered the claims made by Torgensen (2009). Torgensen (2009) estimated that up to 50% of students with disabilities, placed in high quality, intensive instruction in small homogenous groups for limited amounts of time, could obtain the same levels of academic progress as their nondisabled peers. Moreover, these students could eventually handle reintegration into a general education classroom eventually. McLeskey and Waldron (2011b) further explained this kind of instruction by differentiating it from the traditional large, undifferentiated special education resource classrooms of the past. As opposed to such settings, high quality instruction was delivered to small groups with the similar special needs, with the instruction being provided more intensive and explicit than the instruction provided to their nondisabled peers (McLeskey & Waldron, 2011b).

The conclusion they make is that while inclusion remains to be an ideal to be attained, there have been too many shortcomings in the educational system to ensure that the programs for students with disabilities are both inclusive and effective, echoing the claim made in McLeskey and Waldron (2011a). Full inclusion programs were therefore found to be lacking in terms of being able to assist disabled students successfully to catch up with their nondisabled peers. The final stance offered by McLeskey and Waldron (2011b) emphasized the equal value on inclusion and program effectiveness, to best create schools that are not just fair to students with disabilities, but also allow them to attain academic excellence.

Teachers' Views of Inclusion

The increasing number of students, who have ASD, combined with the policy of inclusion being put into place at schools, have resulted in general education teachers—who have traditionally taught only nondisabled children—now having the added responsibility of teaching students with disabilities, as well (Busby, Ingram, Bowron, Oliver, & Lyons, 2012). Along with the higher standards being placed on students with disabilities as mandated by the IDEA Act (1990, 2004), NCLB Act (2002), and LRE, teachers may find their jobs even more difficult than it had ever been. This may be argued to be a large contributing factor why teachers, despite agreeing with inclusion in theory, sometimes feel that they are not prepared for it (Uzair ul Hassan, Parveen, & Riffan-un-Nisa, 2010). Studies, as recent as Allison (2012), have continued to show that teachers still feel a lack of training and special support in their classrooms that include students with disabilities, causing them to feel ineffective and uncertain.

While change has always been constant, especially regarding the standards with which to hold students to, but the changes in education over the last two decades have been quick, complex, and wide-ranging, as governments have started to measure progress not just against the country's own standards, but also against other country's standards (Day, 2012). It is now much more common in teacher education programs to instruct their students on inclusive teaching methods and diversity-instruction models (Agran, Cavin, Wehmeyer, & Palmer, 2010; Voltz & Collins, 2010).

As a result, governments and policy makers may push for certain educational programs or standards to be put into place without considering the perceptions of

teachers. The rhetoric such policy makers espouse about the children and how they should be given all the opportunities in the world often ignores the difficulties teachers face in enacting such changes quickly and sweepingly.

Day (2012) claimed that externally-imposed curricula, management innovations, and monitoring and performance assessment systems that teachers must implement have resulted in "periods of destabilization, increased workload, intensification of work, and a crisis of professional identity for many teachers" (p. 8). Since the number of students in any country would outnumber the number of teachers, government officials and policy makers might find it more expedient to appease students, rather than teachers. While this approach might not be wrong, it could marginalize teachers by essentially telling them how to do their jobs, which might demoralize them into perceiving that the general public did not believe in their capabilities to provide excellent service (Day, 2012).

One may observe the shifting nature of teacher responsibilities in the statistics published by the National Education Association (2010) about the trends currently in place regarding the teaching profession. The rate of teachers who work 40 or more hours a week increased from 14% in 1961 to 22% in 2006 (National Education Association, 2010, p. 48). The rankings of factors that teachers perceived as hindrances to their job were, in 1961, ordered from most to least:

Lack of time to teach, classroom interruptions; lack of materials, resources, and facilities; discipline and negative attitudes of students; incompetent/uncooperative administrators; poor preparation of students, unsatisfactory remuneration; insufficient preparation for the field in which teaching (p. 93). This ranking of

factors changed in 2006: heavy workload, extra responsibilities, paperwork, meetings; testing demands/teaching to the test; discipline and negative attitudes of students; incompetent/uncooperative administrators/lack of support from administrators; lack of preparation/planning time; lack of materials, resources, and facilities. (National Education Association, 2010, p. 93).

These changes have affected both the number and quality of teachers in our country. Teaching is one of the most difficult professions (Labaree, 2011), and the financial compensations offered for teachers pale in comparison to other professions, especially if one considers the impact of teachers on our country. Teachers would seem to be attracted to the profession for more than just the financial incentives, namely, the job of changing people's lives (Labaree, 2011). Therefore, as seen in the change in hindering factors for teachers above, educational policies that come from beyond the schools themselves are often perceived to limit the freedom of teachers to do their job to the best of their knowledge and abilities.

The external demands imposed by the government and policy makers (e.g., to teach to the test or to teach only the subjects and concepts included in national standardized tests) reduce the freedom of teachers. This reduction in freedom extends to their ability to make decisions about their own students, about whom they may have the best knowledge compared to the government policy makers. By disallowing teachers to make these kinds of decisions about what should be done to educate the students with disabilities, they may feel marginalized and unappreciated (Day, 2012).

As Labaree (2011) claimed, teaching is one of the most difficult professions, as it involves guiding people toward a life of learning, which can be a difficult proposition, especially for teachers of younger children. However, in the eyes of the public, teaching may seem to appear easy, given the fewer hours, the vacation time during summers, and other purported benefits. Labaree (2011) contended teachers were easy targets for "anyone selling a simple mechanism for distinguishing the good teacher from the bad" (p. 13). Thus, teachers might stay fearful of metrics and evaluations and could not do the job properly, according to their original training.

An example of this difficult situation is the dual emphasis on inclusion while, at the same time, pushing for a standards agenda that is based on narrow definitions of academic success under the umbrella of public accountability and government control (Avramidis, 2005). This in opposition to the perceptions of teachers, as revealed in a survey conducted by DeSimone and Parmer (2006). DeSimone and Parmer (2006) found that a majority of their participants supported the idea of inclusion. However, these participants also expressed that a general education classroom might not represent the most ideal place for students with disabilities. The participants cited that teachers might find it difficult to give these disabled students the attention and special services they require, while still covering the mandated curriculum.

Researchers have found out that, generally, that this state of affairs holds true: teachers have indicated that although they believe in the inclusion model, they continue to have some reservations when it comes to teaching a fully included classroom (Damore & Murray, 2009). This reluctance may stem from a limited knowledge about the disabled

population being served, inadequate training to service the population, limited support staff for problems that may arise, and the idea that the students with disabilities will require more assistance and take time away from the regular education student (Daane, Beirne-Smith, & Latham, 2000; Gartin & Murdick, 2005; Goodman & Williams, 2007).

Soodak, Podell, and Lehman (1998) also provided insight on the dissatisfaction felt by educators regarding inclusion. The frustration and dissatisfaction would be reported again in an article provided by Davis (1989) who stated, "If inclusion is adopted too quickly on a widespread basis, it could bring serious harm to the very students it was designed to help" (p. 144). The frustration of the regular education teachers allowed for more collaboration between the special and regular education teacher.

The special education teachers seemed to welcome the inclusion model. Although the regular education teacher is invited to provide input on the students Individualized Education Plan (IEP), the special education teacher is the person held responsible for the monitoring of the goals and objectives of the program, and making sure those standards are maintained (Familia-Garcia, 2001, p. 6). An effective inclusion model requires clarification of roles of all those participating (Welch, 2000).

More recently, Dybvik (2004) conducted a qualitative study where he observed a young male student named Daniel. In this study, Daniel, a nonverbal student, was placed in a general education classroom. After observing Daniel, the researcher interviewed staff to obtain additional information about the services provided. Many staff members responded with frustration at the limited knowledge and training they had that was

needed to assist the student. Staff members also noted their inability to deal with Daniel's behavioral disruptions, such as occasional verbal outbursts or meltdowns.

At the conclusion of this study, Dybvik (2004) described a disagreement between the education communities as to whether students with disabilities received any benefit from being placed in the regular education setting. Some educators have claimed that placing students with severe disabilities with nondisabled children may result in the opposite direction intended, in that they lose even more ground academically due to the lack of intense interventions on their behalf (Dybvik, 2004), as evidence by the occurrence of many instances presented by the teachers where the severity of autism made it impossible for some students to successfully participate in the inclusion model and, in the end, had to be placed in a self-contained classroom.

There have been reports of several obstacles for the special needs services necessitated by students with autism. Nickels (2010) named inadequate time, the innate traits associated with autism itself, and difficult teacher opinions as some of these obstacles. Again, while teachers generally have a positive conception of including disabled students with nondisabled students in general education classroom, it is very rare for teachers to advocate for inclusion without stipulating that there must be a wide range of supports available for the teachers, especially those who might feel they have been unprepared for such an undertaking (Idol, 2006).

Lerman, Vorndran, Addison, and Kuhn (2004) conducted a mixed method study. The researchers observed student growth in the areas of communication and correct task responses for six students with autism (Lerman et al., 2004). The teachers interviewed

was seen to benefit the teachers who were responsible for conducting classes in an inclusive environment, in that they were not just ready to teach students with disabilities, but also felt confident about their readiness (Lerman et al., 2004). Concluding the study, the researchers noted the importance of that teachers being specially trained in the area of autism, as it can only help them more effectively in their goal to teach their autistic students, as mandated by policies of inclusion.

While it is important that teachers have appropriate training, Scheuermann, Webber, Boutot, and Goodwin (2003) examined the difficulties surrounding getting teachers trained appropriately and effectively to teach students with autism. The authors pointed out that the difficulty in training may have roots in the shortage of both regular and special educators. This shortage may be due to the rate at which teachers leave the field for any reason.

In the conclusion of the article, the authors stated that any solution to this issue must include the parents. They provided that it would also be beneficial to provide parents skills on effectively teaching their child. By assisting the parents, the authors believed that this would be a great benefit to the educators.

Parents' View of Inclusion

Just as autism and inclusion has posed various challenges to teachers, they also pose challenges for parents. For successful inclusion practices, it is important that parents be provided an opportunity to be a part of this decision. The input from parents may assure that all aspects of the disability are taken into consideration and appropriate

accommodations are added in the students Individual Educational Plan (IEP). Although the IDEA (2004) has mandated that a disabled student's parents must be allowed to participate in all aspects of the child's IEP, a number of these parents have opted out of being involved, the reasons of which are still unclear (Leyser & Kirk, 2004).

Leyser and Kirk (2011) studied parents of children with disabilities; the researchers retained similar concerns as they did in their previous study (Leyser & Kirk, 2004). These concerns included lack of knowledge and training for general education teachers to educate the child properly, lack of resources on the part of the school to accommodate the special needs of their child, and fear that the child might be socially rejected and teased by peers in a general education classroom (Leyser & Kirk, 2011).

The lack of participation may be due to a lack of knowledge about autism and inclusion. Some researchers, as early as 1999 and 2000, have attempted to investigate the reasons for the lack of participation or dissatisfaction with the inclusion model (Kasari, Freeman, Bauminger, & Alkin, 1999; Yell, 2006). Moreover, these researchers have studied whether these parents remained fully aware of their children's condition regarding their education. This unawareness extended to the positives and negatives that government mandates, such as IDEA (2004) and LRE, brought to their children's education (Kasari et al., 1999; Yell, 2006).

Although these studies addressed possible dissatisfaction, there are some parents who agree with their child participating in the inclusion model, as revealed in an earlier study by Davey (2004). However, this study included all special needs students and was not limited just to autistic students, which may color the results. This distinction is

important to make, as Leyser and Kirk (2004) found (i.e., inclusion was often perceived as a positive development by parents of students with milder disabilities compared to the parents of students with moderate to severe disabilities).

Parents of children with mild disabilities would more likely be inclined to pursue inclusion for their children, as it is reasonable for them to think that their children would learn to catch up to their nondisabled peers if given the appropriate opportunity.

However, for parents of children with moderate to severe disabilities, they may fear that if their children were to be placed in a general education classroom, the difference between them and their nondisabled peers may be too glaring, which may result in social isolation, or a lack in intense small-group interventions to help them catch up. This could then lead these students to falling farther behind.

While these fears and reservations are indeed reasonable, a drive to educate these parents on what exactly constitutes an inclusion program must be made in order to help them make the correct decisions regarding their disabled child. Through such processes, perhaps parents may be more receptive to the idea of inclusion. The involvement of these parents in the education process could therefore be a key rallying point for education administrators and policy makers to assist in the goal of inclusion.

In a study that documents the impact of relative contexts on the long-term outcomes of these students with severe disabilities, Ryndak, Alper, Hughes, and McDonnell (2012) concentrated on the effectiveness of services in both inclusive education contexts and other educational contexts that had a more restrictive structure. They noted that currently, a policy of high accountability is the cornerstone of

educational policies that dictates the provision of financial support for schools and salaries for teachers and administration to the levels these schools have achieved regarding student outcomes (Ryndak et al., 2012). This has resulted in the marginalization of social validity, which the authors have emphasized must be reinforced during high school for students with disabilities, to help them develop the social skills necessary to employment and other long-term incomes (Ryndak et al., 2012).

While testing well in standardized tests are no doubt important, a large part of what limits students with disabilities is the lack of genuine inclusion into the classroom that could result in the underdevelopment of social skills. Despite the presence of standard reading and arithmetic skills, such disabled students may still lack the requisite social skills their nondisabled peers have learned in the classroom to function well in their future. The authors provided recommendations for this reason (Ryndak et al., 2012). The recommendations might help increase the emphasis special education must give to social validity are threefold: consumer input must be sought out regarding curriculum goals, a reconsideration of teacher preparation must be made, and, finally, the context of instruction must be tailored to help students with disabilities master the technical and social skills needed for successful post-school outcomes (Ryndak et al., 2012, pp. 134-135).

They noted that general and special teachers, parents, and education administrators tend to disagree with each other, especially given the presence of legislative mandates and the state of the economy (Ryndak et al., 2012). Competing interests and goals may be present and, in the ensuing process, students with disabilities

may be left up in the air in terms of their long-term outcomes, and may not be addressed until the time just before or after graduation, lessening its positive impacts. Additionally, the students themselves must be given the opportunity to speak out regarding their own desires and not be subject to the goals expected of them by their parents and teachers (Ryndak et al., 2012). The authors declared that there is a sore lack in cooperation and involvement between the many different support systems for the student with disability, such as their parents, teachers, students, families, administrators, and researchers, especially when it comes to thinking ahead to those students' post-school futures (Ryndak et al., 2012).

In a study of the assessments of 627 parents of students with disabilities on the importance of self-determination on their children, Carter et al. (2013) revealed that parents placed high value on all the self-determination skills that they measured, the data on the degree that their children were reported to display those skill were very low. The role that the parents play in the development process of their disabled children has, before this study, not been examined exhaustively. Based on the results of this study, there may be a disconnect in the main goals or purposes of the parents and the teachers of the students with disabilities. If parents did indeed rate self-determination skills as highly important, they may try to inculcate that viewpoint in their children. If so, the kind of education they are to receive at school must conform to this viewpoint if these students are to be truly self-determined. Without a confluence of goals between these support systems of the student, then it may be very difficult to lead these students to success, given the difference in what is being taught to them.

Teacher preparation must also be emphasized in order for this to happen, especially with the higher numbers of children with disabilities being placed into inclusive classrooms. General teachers must be better trained to adapt to their disabled students and learn how best to accommodate the mandated curriculum to those students, in recognition that not all disabled students can or should meet the same academic performance standards (Ryndak et al., 2012). A consequence of the emphasis on standardized testing has compelled teachers to focus more on the curricular content of academic subjects rather than endeavoring to identify the individual needs of all learners and coming up with methods that address those diverse needs, especially for students with significant disabilities (Ryndak et al., 2012). The authors have stated that there must be more preparation for these teachers than the current two to three hour credit course that focuses mostly on students with mild disabilities; having no contact and exposure to students with diverse disabilities and their special needs may leave the teacher unprepared to teach those students, and may negatively impact these students' postschool futures (Ryndak et al., 2012).

Lastly, the authors recommended that to help students with disabilities transition into adult life in the community, it is not enough to rely on the NCLB Act (2002), which only mandates schools to help students with disabilities meet general education academic standards (Ryndak et al., 2012). These students must instead be allowed to participate in community-based contexts such as employment sites or residential situations, to help acclimate them to their post-school future. This, they argued, would best serve students with disabilities in terms of their educational experiences, by ensuring that they perceive

a linkage between their academic learning and their real life, as opposed to solely relying on standardized state and district assessments to measure success (Ryndak et al., 2012).

Researchers have echoed this need for the importance of including parents in the education process, as noted in the study conducted by Carothers & Taylor (2004). The authors also suggested that, with the collaborating between the parents and teachers, a greater trust among the participants might emerge, resulting in more productive dialogue and greater insights on how to help students with disabilities. The same point was made by Ryndak et al. (2012) who claimed that a model for determining relevant curriculum content would rely on the collaboration between special and general teachers, family members, and the students' social support network (p. 135).

This collaboration among parents and teachers, both of whom care about the education of the student with disabilities, may also help parents and teachers create a more comprehensive idea of how to educate students with disabilities, and assist them both in defining their respective appropriate roles (Carothers & Taylor, 2004). This could then result in less stress for both the parent and the teacher, which may be argued to help them perform more effectively in their prescribed roles. The authors also offered techniques to promote greater collaboration between teachers and parents, suggesting suggested that providing video tape modeling, pictorial schedules, and peer or sibling modeling could help improve parental collaboration (Carothers & Taylor, 2004).

Parental Involvement

For all parents with students receiving services under an Individualized Educational Plan (IEP), IDEA (2004) mandates that parent to be present in the meetings

(McCabe, 2007). The revisions in IDEA (2004) require that schools include families as members of the IEP team; provide prior notice for identification, evaluation, or the provision of free and appropriate public education (FAPE); and offer mediation when disputes cannot be resolved amicably (Muscott, 2002, p. 66).

Other researchers such as Trussell, Hammond, and Ingalls (2008) found in their research that parents participating in the inclusion model feel that do not serve an integral part in this relationship. Childre and Chambers (2005) and Stoner et al. (2005) found that parents of students with disabilities expressed frustrations regarding the process of how the Individualize Education Program was developed, and reported feeling a lack of respect and receptivity toward their views, being intimidated, and a lack of understanding or dismissal of their stated needs (Leyser & Kirk, 2011).

In research conducted by Mandlawitz (2002), research was compiled from court cases of parental complaints regarding the education of their children with disabilities. These complaints showed that parents felt their students were not receiving quality services (Mandlawitz, 2002). However, it has also been contended by some researchers that parents seemed to request services that may be unwarranted (Mandlawitz, 2002). As seen in Carter et al. (2013) it is imperative for both parents and teachers to have a confluence of goals regarding children with disabilities. Although parental involvement is undoubtedly a good thing given the importance they have as a support system, it must be the case that their goals are commensurate with the evidence.

If parents were to become involved, they must have the knowledge and capability to understand currently ongoing research on disabilities and education. This is to avoid

any potential complaints and misunderstandings that could arise from mistaken assumptions or unrealistic expectations they might have. Martinez, Conroy, and Ceretto (2012) studied these parents' means of accessing information related to their predicament and the impact inclusive education has had on their children in the secondary level, and how this affects the parents' desires and expectations for their children to one day reach postsecondary education.

The authors found out that the levels of student inclusion were related to the levels of parental desire and expectations for their children to reach postsecondary education and those parents' involvement in the transition process that follows (Martinez et al., 2012). This appears to indicate that the more included students with disabilities are into general education classrooms, the more their parents expect them to reach postsecondary education, and the more that they involve themselves in that goal. This suggests the importance not just of including students with disabilities, but also the strengthening of the information process that allows the parents to know exactly what is going on with their child. Martinez et al. (2012) further suggested that the inclusion of information about postsecondary education options could strengthen teacher education programs.

Leyser and Kirk (2011) revealed some of the suggestions and advice that parents of children with a complex and severe disability called Angelman syndrome. While these parents would desire to get involved with the education of their children, they noted a need for better communication and partnership between the school and the home, emphasizing that needs to be better training for severe disabilities such as Angelman

syndrome. Furthermore, they called on teachers to be more patient, to love and believe in their students, not to settle for low expectations just because their students are handicapped, and be open to the possibility of using different methods to teach their children, with an emphasis on a curriculum that teaches life skills, communication, and socialization, and not just teaching their children to pass standardized tests (Leyser & Kirk, 2011).

Role Conflicts

With the number of individuals working together to form a successful inclusion model, there is bound to be some lack of clarity in the roles being played by each individual. This lack of clarity may lead to a greater level of frustration for the parents who have limited knowledge about the inclusion model. Early researchers defined roles in the school system as "the structural and normative elements defining the behavior expected of role incumbents or actors, that is, their mutual rights and obligations" (Getzel, Lipham, & Campbel, 1968, p. 20). What this means is that certain individuals have well-defined roles based on their position in a system and their competence to engage in that role.

In a study of the cardiovascular implantable electronic device industry, Mueller, Ottenberg, Hayes, and Koenig (2013) found that employed professionals reported having feelings of work-related role conflicts and moral distress in the multiple roles they perceive they need to play in their job. The themes enumerated to contribute to these role conflicts are as follows: "(a) their relationships with their patients, (b) their relationships with clinicians, (c) role ambiguity, (d) customer service to clinicians, and (e)

cardiovascular implantable electronic device (CIED) deactivation" (p. 1). The various roles they are expected to play outside of their own jobs were shown to generate considerable amounts of stress in the employed professionals.

For instance, these employed professionals were commonly requested to deactivate CIEDs, particular in cases where they were asked to deactivate the pacemakers of patients who depended on those pacemakers to live. The conflict that arises during such times was between their relationships with their patients, with their clinicians, and their responsibility to deactivate CIEDs. These employed professionals reported being treated as clinicians by patients and, as such, they get to know these patients, which make their responsibility to their responsibility to deactivate CIEDs difficult, sometimes even causing moral distress (Mueller et al., 2013).

Such problems may be avoided if and when roles are clarified, causing each individual to be absolutely clear on what is expected regarding what they are able or willing to perform in their respective roles, without engendering extreme conflict. Similarly, if there is an agreement on the behavioral expectations of a specific role, the role incumbent enjoys a well-defined role identity; however, if there is disagreement, a role conflict arises (Getzel et al., 1968).

In relation to special education and the specific both parents and teachers play in the education of a student with disabilities, role stress may arise if either party is unclear on what their role is in the system. Parents may experience this role conflict within the inclusion model when an expectation of their role or participation is inadequately defined or contradictory to their expectation. If the parent does not have adequate skills to resolve the conflict or participate as needed, due to other work or family obligations, the parent may experience and imbalance, frustration and stress as a result of this uncertainty.

Similarly, if a teacher feels that their role is being undermined or contradicted by the parent, they may feel stress and demoralization. Both instances can be seen as frustration that stems from not being able to do what they perceive is their job.

Role conflict may lead to greater dissatisfaction. For example, Stoner et al. (2005) examined lack of parental trust and dissatisfaction of the current services being provided to their student. This study was conducted by examining the themes resulting from the interactions between parents of children with autism and teachers. The study concluded with a correlation between distrust and dissatisfaction. If the parents had a lack of trust and were dissatisfied, they were less likely to participate in their required IEP meetings or participate in their expected role.

Although there have been other studies conducted that identifies role conflict as the source of added stress for parents, the studies looked at all students with developmental disabilities not autism specifically. Nachshen and Minnes (2005) conducted a quantitative study. These researchers indicated that although additional support was added, the parents experienced a higher level of stress than parents of nondisabled students.

To assist with limiting role conflict, McCabe (2007) found that parents and teachers needed to communicate more for services to be effective. He further reported that, if respect from either side is not given, this might further foster conflict (McCabe, 2007). Teachers should be sensitive of the following issues that may arise within the

family: educational, emotional and the need for additional outside resources (McCabe, 2007).

When educators are aware of the needs of the parents and families, McCabe (2007) found that a greater relationship was fostered. Teachers and parents must work together to assure that the needs of the child are met and effective understood, then addressed through appropriate services (Howland, Anderson, Smiley, & Abbott, 2006). If this is not ensured, then much of the hard work on both side of the parents and the educators can counteract each other and produce negative outcomes for the child with disabilities.

Working Together

Learning is a continual process, which has no limits as to where it may take place. The school, community, and home play a huge role in what and how students learn (Epstein, 2001). Further, in the research, Epstein (2001) found that parents felt that they lacked sufficient information from the school or community to be productively involved. With this lack of clarity; schools, communities and families, have a possibility of either positively or negatively affecting the child's learning environment. For instance, if a parent of a disabled child has specific ideas about how to educate and socialize their child, these ideas must be close to what is being taught in school, since a contradiction may confuse the child and cause them to not learn effectively. Similarly, the school must tailor its program to fit the needs of the parents. Given that parents also play a large role in the support of a child with disability, they may be more aware of certain personal

factors that, if accounted for, could help a child overcome their disability and achieve academic success.

Epstein and Jansorn (2004) investigated how to effectively involve parents in the education of their student. Again, it is not enough to simply involve parents, their involvement must be productive and be informed by current research on the issues facing students with disabilities. Epstein and Jansorn (2004) found that schools need effective, purposeful, and planned partnership programs in place to involve parents in the education process. They concluded that parents were grateful when teachers took the time to show them how to be involved and provided examples of how they could be of assistance in the learning process (Epstein & Jansorn, 2004).

When the roles of the teacher, community, and the family are defined, this ultimately helps the student in obtaining further direction (Epstein & Jansorn, 2004). An even collaboration during educational planning may result in plans for students that are more effectively designed to meet the individual social, emotional, and educational needs of the child (Jivanjee, Kruzich, Friesen, & Robinson, 2007).

Jivanjee et al. (2007) surveyed 133 family members of students with emotional disorders. They reviewed the family members' perception of the educational planning provided to their child. When bringing parents and teachers together, teachers should understand that much of the jargon that is used in the educational field may be foreign to those outside. Because of this statement, Jivanjee et al. (2007) provided, "Families need to be aware of terminology, policies, and procedures that may surround educational planning" (p. 78).

To work together effectively, Hall, Vue, Koga, and Silva (2004) advised that ideas must be blended. Key players in the inclusion model should conduct the following steps to foster success: (a) define what support students need, who will provide them, and how they will be provided; (b) adapt general education curriculum or settings to suit student needs and abilities; (c) accommodate students physically; (d) evaluate student outcomes; and (e) enhance understanding among all who interact with students with disabilities (Hall et al., 2004, pp.10-11).

Titone (2005) supported the notion that working together was very important. In his study, parents of the focus group showed concern that all participants in their child's education were not working together (Titone, 2005). Within the focus groups, parents suggested that special education and regular education teachers should understand the scope of each person's participation. The parents emphasized the need for teachers to have a great understanding of the overall curriculum to "take it, diversify it, differentiate it, and make it more accessible to the student with special needs" (Titone, 2005, p. 21). In other words, these teachers must not just learn how to interact with and teach their students using information gleaned from a book, but they must also learn through experience and adapting to that experience.

In other research, teacher attitudes about inclusion clearly defined responsibilities between the special education teacher/general education teacher and successful inclusion of parents produce academic success, as well asimproved social skills for both the special needs students and nondisabled peers (Titone, 2005). This may serve to counteract the pessimistic contention that the problem with special education lies in any one specific

support system. Rather, it is through the clear defining of the roles for each specific system that allows them to do their job, and do it well, leading to positive outcomes for students with disabilities.

Support for Inclusion

In the past few years, there has been increasing support for the inclusion learning model. For example, Nutbrown and Clough (2009) suggested that including special needs students with their regular education cohorts assisted in the showing of a heightened self-esteem and an increase in social skills. Other researchers have postulated that effective collaboration among the regular, special education teacher, and parents may increase classroom expectations (Sayeski, 2009). When regular education students are taught alongside those with special needs, a greater level of tolerance and understanding is fostered (Staub & Peck, 1995; Mastropieri, Scruggs, & Berkley, 2007; Newburn & Shiner, 2006). The findings of these studies showed that effective collaboration evolved in the inclusion process with benefits. All students are taught about equality, although in different ways. For example, students with disabilities are taught equality by showing them that they are not all that different from their nondisabled peers, while nondisabled students are taught equality by showing them that there are people different from them, who deserve the same kind of respect.

Summary and Conclusions

This study examined the lived experiences and perceptions of the parents of students who are currently participating in inclusion services or who have participated in inclusion programs within the past five years. A gap in the literature exists as the

perceptions of parents of students with autism have yet to be explored, which may limit the overall efficacy of the intervention program. While the perceptions of teachers and administrators have been investigated previously, the end-users of the inclusion program have largely been ignored. As the students themselves may not provide data on this phenomenon, the perceptions of their primary caretakers may prove instrumental in ascertaining gaps or limitations in the inclusion model, and the roles and stresses those parents perceive because of the model. Chapter 2 provided information on the different categories of autism along with information on the history and prevalence of the disorder and the way in which the public education system has responded to children with autism.

There have been drastic changes in how education has been provided and Chapter 2 explained the changes that took place in forming the inclusion model. Inclusion itself, as it began in the early 1900s, has changed drastically. When inclusion first began, students were only allowed to participate with regular education students in resource classes such as music, physical education, and art. Later, due to changes in IDEA Act (1990) and NCLB Act (2002), school districts were mandated to place students with disabilities in classrooms that were based on their specific need. With this mandate, more students with special needs are being served in the regular education classroom. Although this change has taken place, there are still mixed feelings about the inclusion model. Preliminary research shows that some parents feel the inclusion model increases social skills of their children and allow the child to make great progress; other parents feel there may not be enough structure for the student to thrive. The way inclusion is viewed by

teachers has been explored but not parents. This study examined more deeply the parental views of the inclusion model.

Chapter 3 provides an explanation of the research design and rationale, the role of the researcher, methodology, and issues of trustworthiness.

Chapter 3: Research Method

Introduction

The increasing trend of using the inclusion model in the education of students with disabilities in a regular education classroom, and the possibility of misunderstandings between the teachers and the parents of these students, indicates the need to understand better how parents perceive this model of learning for their autistic child. Previous researchers (Carothers & Taylor, 2004; Leyser & Kirk, 2004; Stoner et al., 2005) showed that the parents of autistic children, participating in the inclusion model, had varying views on the reasons for their own level of satisfaction with the inclusion model. Research that focused on parental reasons of dissatisfaction with the inclusion model revealed that over half of the parents of autistic children participating in an inclusion model of education commented that their child's educational needs were not adequately met in an inclusion program. Given the prevalence of the inclusion model of special education, there was a need for revealing any concerns these parents might have so that one could remedy any shortcomings in the programs. To address this issue, Chapter 3 includes the research design and the rationale for the study, the role of the researcher, the methodology employed, the instrumentation, the data analysis plan, and a discussion on researcher trustworthiness and ethics.

Research Design and Rationale

The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an

inclusion model, using the phenomenological design. The goal of this study was to answer the following research questions:

- **RQ1.** What are the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of students with ASD regarding the efficacy of the inclusion model of education on their children's academic success?
- **RQ2.** What are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding their role in the inclusion model of education?
- **RQ3**. What are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding the stressors that may result from their perceived roles in the inclusion model of education?

In conducting the research, I utilized the modified van Kaam method by Moustakas (1994). Using this method, researchers conduct "semistructured, audio taped, and transcribed interviews" (Moustakas, 1994). The goal of a qualitative phenomenological study is to explore beyond what seems obvious and dig deeper into reality to reveal common life experiences. This approach allows the researcher to apprehend a given phenomenon through a fresh perspective and allows an in-depth exploration of a phenomenon that cannot be achieved through a quantitative design (Leedy & Ormond, 2001; Moustakas, 1994). I further organized this study around Pearlin's (1999) stress process model as a way to understand the different stresses associated with being a parent of a child with ASD and their role in educating their child.

Role of the Researcher

For qualitative research, the researcher is the primary data collection tool. It is also important for the researcher, if conducting interviews, to locate adequate space to perform interviews. In determining a location, Creswell (2013) stated that the researcher should seek out neutral, noise-free environments to reduce distractions and undue stress.

I did not have any relationships with the participants. I previously worked as a special education teacher, but I had not worked in the field for over 8 years, and I had no contacts or acquaintances from that time. I selected participants from outside of the school district where I had previously worked. Since the inclusion model was new to the district where I worked, I had no preconceived notions about the results of the study. The participants were volunteers, and I contacted the participants by phone for interviewing purposes only.

Methodology

The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an inclusion model, using the phenomenological design. In qualitative research, Creswell (2013) stated that the sample size for phenomenological studies might be as low as one and as high as 100. For this qualitative study and based on this information, I planned to reveal deep and meaningful data by conducting interviews with 12 participants. I assumed that a small number of interviews would allow for longer, in-depth interactions that could develop more complex aspects of the experience of being a parent of a student with ASD by providing more space and time for the participants to speak their minds.

However, I failed to collect 12 participants, as only seven participants met the desired criteria.

I requested assistance from a personal contact to begin the recruitment process with 12 parents of students with ASD, currently enrolled in an inclusion setting or had participated in the inclusion model within the last 5 years. In this study, I utilized a snowball recruitment strategy, as suggested by Creswell (2013). I began by identifying a participant who knew others with similar situations. The contact introduced me to one parent who fit the criteria for inclusion in the study. The first parent then referred more parents to the study until no more parents met the research criteria. Seven participants ultimately participated in the study.

To collect data, I conducted semistructured, open-ended interviews with the parents of children with ASD currently enrolled in a school with an inclusion program for disabled students. These parents resided in Pennsylvania and were either mothers or fathers; I included them as long as they self-identified as the primary caregiver to their child with ASD. The parents did not have to be a biological parent; however, they had to be the child's primary care provider. Participants volunteered to participate in the study based on their desire to share their stories and perceptions of having an autistic child in inclusion services. I contacted the participants through email or telephone to screen and recruit them, and then scheduled their interviews. I conducted interviews in a secure area, via telephone conference.

Several problems occurred that prevented the successful recruitment of 12 parents. The first main issue occurred right after I obtained permission from the

institutional review board (IRB). Parent recruitment had to take place in a facility in Louisiana. Shortly before recruitment began, the selected facility decided not to be involved in the study. To overcome this issue, I requested that the IRB allow observation of an alternate population/area. The Walden IRB approved the request to allow me to survey parents of students with ASD in Pennsylvania.

The second issue occurred because the snowball technique for parent recruitment yielded a smaller number of parents than I expected. The set of parents interviewed for this study asked friends and acquaintances if they would be interested in participating in a study on autism. Two additional parents expressed interest, but I excluded them because they did not meet the criteria. Other parents at the public schools, where their children were in the inclusion model, were not eligible because their child had been out of the inclusion program for more than 5 years. I excluded another participant because their child attended a facility for students with ASD. To address the second hurdle, I revisited the contact who recommended participants; however, no one else expressed interest in participating.

Instrumentation

I developed the interview guideline prior to data collection to solicit answers using open-ended questions. Open-ended questions allow answers that are "unconstrained by any perspective of the researcher or past findings" (Creswell, 2005, p. 214). In this study, participants responded to semistructured, open-ended questions about their lived experiences of when their child received services in the inclusion model. One-on-one

interviews are "ideal for interviewing participants who are not hesitant to speak, are articulate, and who can share ideas comfortably" (Creswell, 2005, p. 215).

The interviews took approximately 45 minutes, although the exact time varied depending on the participant's answers. The participants completed a short demographic questionnaire before interviews began. I audiotaped and transcribed the interviews.

Because I used a semistructured format with a series of open-ended questions, I could not anticipate potential responses. This allowed for unexpected responses, as stated by Bernard (2013).

Ideally, one should conduct interviews through face-to-face interactions and in quiet, neutral locations, as convenient to both parties. In this study, this option was not available because I lived in Texas, and the participants lived in Pennsylvania. I considered flying to Philadelphia to conduct face-to-face interviews with parents over a 4-day period. However, this consideration did not work because it was difficult to organize interviews with all parents during such a minor period. Therefore, all interviews took place by telephone.

I successfully recruited 10 parents. However, two parents lived outside the designated region; therefore, I excluded their data from the study. One parent dropped out of the study, leaving seven parents. Data collection ended at this point because I reached the end of the time for data collection and the number of participants fell within the acceptable range for phenomenological research, as based on Creswell (2013) and Marshall (1996). I reached saturation with seven participants when no new themes emerged during interviews.

The intent of this phenomenological study was to explore what parents perceived as issues with the inclusion model for their autistic children. This research method allowed participants to explain their experiences in a way that allowed me to understand their thoughts on the inclusion model. Because the parents could fully tell their stories using this method, thus potentially revealing new insights, I believed it was the most appropriate method for this study.

Data Analysis

I used multiple data sources during data analysis. Data analysis consisted of typical data preparation activities related to qualitative data. I transcribed the data from the audio-recorded interviews. Once I completed the transcription, I reviewed data to identify general themes that emerged. In addition, I analyzed data using a similar procedure. I examined the responses to the interview questions, along with any notes from journaling, to see what themes emerged within the context of the model. I then compared the themes with the concepts of the model to identify consistencies and differences. For this research project, the most important task was to assure that the research truly expressed the interpretations of the data in a manner that closely represented the intended meanings and experiences of the participants, as suggest by Bernard (2013).

I used a coding process for this study; this allowed me to discover and develop common themes. The coding process consisted of reading all transcripts to acquire a general feel and extract specific statements, phrases, and descriptions regarding the phenomenon. I then recorded responses in a journal. I also encoded the quotes, phrases, and notes in a Word document.

I took three steps to reveal the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of children with ASD in inclusion programs. These steps included (a) a close reading of the interviews, (b) an organized breaking down of the data from the text into smaller units of meaning, in order to reveal discrete meaning units, and (c) an investigation of those meaning units to isolate and find invariant constituents of experience, as suggested by Matthews, Smith, MacMillan, and Gilbert (2012).

I examined the units of relevant meaning so that redundancies were eliminated. I organized the emergent themes by the interview questions. I placed numbers by codes and phrases most stated to indicate the importance of the concern (Marsh & White, 2006). In addition, I discarded vague or insignificants codes that did not assist with the description of the research phenomenon. After data collection ended, I followed Moustakas' (1994) modified van Kaam method of phenomenological analysis.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Regarding qualitative research, Creswell (2013, p. 250) used the term *validation* to reference trustworthiness. Earlier researchers, such as Lincoln and Guba (2005), used terms, including "credibility, authenticity, transferability, and dependability" (Creswell, 2013, p. 250), to describe trustworthiness. Lincoln and Guba (2005) added that one could establish trustworthiness by adding *confirmability*.

I reviewed the data of this study multiple times. I began by reading transcribed data from Participant 7 and continued to Participant 2. Once reviewed, I analyzed data

from Participant 1. This process aligned with referential adequacy and increased credibility because I set aside one set of data, returning later to review, as suggested by Lincoln and Guba (2005). The final participants' data produced themes closely related to other participants. Reflexive journaling provides for multiple data sources, which can also increase the credibility of a phenomenological study (Lincoln & Guba, 2005). The additional data sources that I used included a demographic questionnaire, which also increased credibility. I provided a *thick description* that enhanced transferability, as suggested by Lincoln and Guba (2005). I established dependability through continued chair/committee review. Overall, I allowed the participants statements to guide the study. To assure trustworthiness further, I remained honest about my previous background as a special education teacher explained this to participants.

Ethical Procedures

Prior to beginning data collection for this research, I obtained approval from Walden University's IRB. Participation in this research study remained purely voluntary. I provided participants with an informed consent document that outlined any benefits or consequences associated with the study. The informed consent document provided the reason for the research and provided clear insight on any foreseeable ethical issues related to confidentiality of identity and material.

I placed all data in a password-protected flash drive, and I placed all printed materials in a secure location; no real names were used for the participants. No other person other than the researcher had access to this data. After 5 years, I will delete the data. I advised participants of contact information should they have any further questions

or concerns regarding the information provided during or after this study. Participants signed and dated consent documents to assure understanding.

Summary

Chapter 3 presented a detailed explanation of the significance of the proposed research. The presentation of the research methodology included (a) role of the researcher, (b) instrumentation, (c) methodology, (d) data analysis plan, (e) issues of trustworthiness, and (f) ethical procedures. Chapter 4 will provide detailed findings of the research.

Chapter 4: Analysis

Introduction

Chapter 4 includes the data analysis for this study, including the data that I collected and organized regarding the three research questions of the study. The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an inclusion model, using the phenomenological design. To collect data, I conducted seven semistructured, open-ended interviews with the parents of children with ASD currently enrolled in a school with an inclusion program for disabled students. These parents resided in Pennsylvania. The parents included mothers and fathers who were the primary caregivers to their children with ASD.

The research questions that guided this qualitative research were as follows:

- **RQ1.** What are the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of students with ASD regarding the efficacy of the inclusion model of education on their children's academic success?
- **RQ2.** What are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding their role in the inclusion model of education?
- **RQ3**. What are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding the stressors that may result from their perceived roles in the inclusion model of education?

Setting

A phenomenological approach is an attempt to explore and understand people's perceptions, perspectives, and understandings of a particular situation (Creswell, 2013). In this study, I examined the perception and lived experiences of the parents with students with ASD. Creswell (2013) stated that one must understand common experiences of people to develop practices, policies, or a deeper understanding about the features of the phenomenon under study. Patton (2002) agreed that one should use qualitative methods to discover how people deal with certain issues in everyday life or institutional practices. Therefore, I explored, analyzed, and interpreted common experiences of the parents. The experiences of the parents were evident from the semistructured interviews.

Patton (2002) defined qualitative research as an attempt to understand unique interactions in a particular situation. The purpose of understanding did not necessarily include predicting what might occur, rather it included in-depth understanding of the characteristics of the situation and the meaning brought by participants about their experiences. Based on this purpose of understanding, I conducted personal interviews that illuminated the struggles of parents who advocate for the welfare of their children with ASD.

Derived from the German philosophy of phenomenology, phenomenology typically involves in-depth interviews with individuals who have experienced the phenomenon of interest (Marshall, 1996). In-depth interviews capture a deeper level of understanding, which opens the lived experiences of the parent participants available for

data collection and data analysis (Marshall, 1996). For this reason, I used in-depth interviews in this study.

The phenomenological approach uses a relatively small sample group to generate theme and pattern analysis with which to provide insights and information about a given phenomenon (Marshall, 1996). In this study, I intended to obtain a small group of 12 parents for this study; however, I obtained an even small number of seven participants.

Based on the criteria from Marshall (1996) regarding sample size, the smaller number of seven participants remained acceptable for this research. After obtaining seven participants, no more participants met the criteria.

In a phenomenological study, one may obtain data collection through a variety of methods, such as using action research and focus groups, participant self-reporting through narratives or artistic expression, and observation and the use of interviewing (Marshall, 1996). These data collection processes allow the participants to offer descriptions, as opposed to explanations, of their phenomenal experiences without bias or preconceptions. In this study, the small set of participants allowed a deeper overall comprehension of the lived experiences of the parents. Moreover, seven participants is not an unusual sample size within the phenomenological research paradigm (Creswell, 2013; Marshall, 1996).

Demographics

I requested assistance from my personal contact via telephone for the recruitment of 12 parents of students with ASD currently enrolled in an inclusion program. Seven participants participated in the study. I conducted semistructured, open-ended interviews

with the parents of children with ASD currently enrolled in a school with an inclusion program for disabled students. These parents resided in Pennsylvania and were primary caregivers to their child with ASD. The parents did not have to be a biological parent but were the child's primary care provider.

Participant 1 was 44 years old, female, Caucasian, and a mother to two male children diagnosed with ASD. Her children were 18 years old and 16 years old.

Participant 2 was 41 years old, male, Caucasian, and a father to a male child diagnosed with ASD who was 15 years old. Participant 3 was 53, male, Caucasian, and a father to a male child aged 19 years old. Participant 4 was 52 years old, Caucasian, female, and a father to a male child diagnosed with ASD aged 17 years old. Participant 5 was 45 years old, female, Caucasian, and a mother to a male child who was 15 years old. Participant 6 was 38 years old, female, Caucasian, and mother to a male child who was 15 years old. Participant 7 was 41 years old, male, Caucasian, and a father to a male child who was 15 years old. Table 1 shows the demographics of the participants:

Table 1

Demographics of the Participants

Participant	Age	Gender	Ethnicity	Relationship	No. of	Age of	Gender of
No.					Child with	Child	Child
					ASD		
1	44	Female	Caucasian	Mother	2	18	Male
						16	Male
2	41	Male	Caucasian	Father	1	15	Male
3	53	Male	Caucasian	Father	1	19	Male
4	52	Female	Caucasian	Mother	1	17	Male
5	45	Female	Caucasian	Mother	1	15	Male
6	38	Female	Caucasian	Mother	1	15	Male
_ 7	41	Male	Caucasian	Father	1	15	Male

Data Collection

I created a demographic questionnaire, which represented the instrument used for this study. I used the demographic questionnaire to collect data from the seven participants, along with an interview guide to obtain the perceptions of parents of children with autism, who participated in the inclusion model within the last 5 years. The interview questions included their experiences (a) regarding the inclusion model, (b) the parental role working with the inclusion model, (c) with role conflict, (d) stressors from the inclusion model, and (e) influence of how stress affects parental participation. These experiences helped me to provide recommendations for other parents working with the inclusion model. I audio-recorded interviews, which took approximately 45 minutes to 1 hour.

Data Analysis

I analyzed the data multiple times. The lived experiences and perceptions of the parents of children with ASD represented the focus of the data analysis. Table 2 shows the major themes and important perceptions generated from each research questions.

Table 2

Major Themes and Important Perceptions

Research Questions	Major Themes	Important Perceptions
RQ1. What are the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of children with ASD regarding the efficacy of the inclusion model of education on	1) The inclusion model of education can either have positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD	It is not always true that the inclusion model will always have a positive effect on the students.
their children's academic success?		The school and the inclusion model of education can have an impact to the development of the students, in both academic and non-academic developments
RQ2. What are the parents of children with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding their role in the inclusion model of education?	(2) The development of emotional skills of autistic children can be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other	Human interactions should be encouraged so that the children are able to have fruitful relationships with their peers.
	people	To ensure the healthy interaction of the child through the inclusion model, the normal children must be aware that there is going to be an inclusion
RQ3. What are the parents of children with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding the stresses that may result from their perceived roles in the inclusion model of education?	(3) A strengthened support system for children with autism must be advocated through accessible information and services.	People always side with the school and that the mainstream teachers are not as great because they were not educated about special education.
		The accessibility of information and services would also create an impact to the development of the children with ASD

I identified provisional deductive codes from the lived experiences of the parents who participated in the study. The deductive codes from the lived experiences of the parents guided my identification of relevant inductive information concerning the

program. The following represented the deductive codes derived from this research: (a) academic performance, (b) social skills, (c) role of parents, (d) support, and (e) role of teachers. Out from these codes, I identified 17 codes covering interview questions responded to by seven participants. I read, reviewed, and sorted transcripts for the codes, as presented in Table 3.

Table 3

Emerging Codes

Emerging Codes	Meaning	Sample Verbatim Responses
Academic	The academic performance of persons	I felt my son did well academically.
performance	associated with autism is hampered.	(# 5)
Social skills	There are various social quirks experienced	He demonstrated focus problems and
	and exhibited by the children.	social quirks. (# 5)
Role of parents	The parents should have an active role in	I believe my role as a parent is
	supporting their children.	twofold. (#1)
Support	Support from other people and institution is	The teachers were also very
	important to ensure the development of the children.	supportive. (# 6)
Role of teachers	The teachers should always support the	The teachers did not seem to like this
	performance and learning of the students.	and appeared to feel that I was being intrusive. (# 1)
Stress	There are various stressors because of the	Stressors due to lack of support and
	disability of people with autism and	knowledge about my child's
	Asperger.	condition. (# 1)
Diagnosis	Diagnosis should be in the early stage to	My child received a late diagnosis. (#
	promote the development of students.	2)
Advocate	The support system of the children with autism should advocate their development.	You have to be an advocate. (# 1)
Services	The government and schools must provide	The private school had no support for
	services to address the special needs.	kids with autism. (# 3)
Participation	Participation is expected from the parents	Participation for me was pretty much
_	to ensure holistic growth.	mandatory because I had to come in
	•	to help calm him down. (# 6)
Information	Information of what can be of help to the	We had no information on the
	families with autistic children should be readily available.	services provided by the school. (# 2)
Calm	The problems of children with autism can	I was very involved making sure he
	be addressed in a calm manner.	was calm. (# 6)
Love	Children with autism should be loved by	Love is parent advocating or teaching
	their children.	the child to advocate for themselves.
		(# 4)
Education	The educational system for children with	I would encourage people to try to
	autism must be adjusted to focus on their	spend as much time as they can in the
	special needs.	school and in the classroom. (# 3)
Lack of	Lack of understanding is prevalent because	Lack of understanding
understanding	of the difference in the mental capacity of	That was the biggest stress that lack
-	children with autism.	of understanding of the work. (# 3)
Emotional skills	The emotional skills of autistic children	He is very good in compensating for
	should also be developed.	the things but he doesn't do so well.
		(# 3)
Inclusion model of	The education model must be inclusive and	Inclusion should be a parent/student
education	should take into consideration the different	choice. (#3)
	needs of autistic children.	

Table 4 contains a summary of the number of participants and the percentage of occurrence, in relation to the emerging codes. These participants showed that they had common lived experiences and perceptions regarding their lives as parents of children with ASD.

Table 4

Codes and Percentage of Occurrence

Codes	No. of Participants	Percentage of	
	•	Participants	
Academic performance	7	100%	
Social skills	6	86%	
Role of parents	7	100%	
Support	7	100%	
Role of teachers	6	86%	
Stress	6	86%	
Diagnosis	3	43%	
Advocate	3	43%	
Services	3	43%	
Participation	3	43%	
Information	2	29%	
Calm	2	29%	
Love	2	29%	
Education	6	86%	
Lack of understanding	4	57%	
Emotional skills	5	71%	
Inclusion model of education	7	100%	

As codes emerged in the transcripts, I reviewed and categorized these codes for further analysis. Out of the 17 codes, I identified three categories. These included academic skills, social relationships, and support. Table 5 shows the meaning of the categories.

Table 5

Emerging Categories

Categories	Associated Codes	Meaning
Academic Skills	Academic performance	The inclusion model of education
	Education	can either have positive or
	Lack of understanding	negative effects on different
	Inclusive model of education	children diagnosed with ASD.
Social relationships	Social skills	The development of emotional
	Stress	skills of autistic children can be
	Diagnosis	improved to enrich their
	Participation	participation and social
	Calm	relationships with other people.
	Love	
	Emotional skills	
	Role of parents	
Support	Role of teachers	A strengthened support system
	Advocate	for children with autism must be
	Services	advocated through accessible
	Information	information and services.

Based on the analysis of the codes and the categories, the following themes emerged: (a) The inclusion model of education can either have positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD. (b) The development of emotional skills of autistic children can be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. (c) A strengthened support system for children with autism must be advocated through accessible information and services.

Theme 1

The first theme was the inclusion model of education could either have positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD. This subsection contains the findings for this theme. Participant 3 mentioned that the inclusion model of education was a great thing because it represented a tool that made the children who did not need

inclusion aware that there were a lot of different people in the world with different needs. He continued:

If you are told that somebody has a challenge, it is a lot better than you just perceiving that that kid is different. I found that there was a pretty good degree of acceptance and tolerance. But I would have to say that the children who were more disruptive in the inclusion model which wouldn't have been my son, even he was disturbed by that which is interesting because he knew that he was being accommodated.

It was not always true that the inclusion model would always have a positive effect on the students. There were times when the inclusion model could prove more detrimental than helpful in the development of the child. The school and the inclusion model of education could influence both academic and non-academic developments of the students. According to Participant 7:

My child started in Catholic school but we were advised that he would need to either go the public school or be homeschooled due to his behaviors. The private school had not support for kids with autism. Since taking him out of private school, he has always been in an inclusion learning setting. In the public setting here, there was no alternative to inclusion. I was initially told that my child was shy and that sometimes he doesn't like the assignment so he would not participate and throw angry fits. In second grade, the fits increased and the school did not know how to deal with it. We were constantly asked to pick him up from school. When we moved him to the public school, the experience was much better.

Theme 2

The second them was that the development of emotional skills of autistic children could be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. This subsection contains the findings for this theme. In addition to the comprehension skills of children with autism, their emotional skills also needed improvement to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. Human interactions should be encouraged so that the children could have fruitful relationships with their peers. Participant 3 noted that many non-verbal skills must be learned by the children with autism to interact with other people. If the child had not yet acquired these non-verbal skills, it was best to continue educating the child in a non-inclusion class. According to him:

I noticed that a lot of the kids had severe issues, behavioral issues, and tics. There was one boy who constantly blows his nose into a tissue and then eats it in front of the class. That took away from the class because the teacher had to say stop, stop. We would always hear him down the hall yelling and screaming if he was having a fit. But again, he was a verbal kid and was a t kid and he deserved to be there. But, it was just really hard for the kids.

Participant 3 mentioned that the parents should allow the interaction of the child with ASD with other children. However, there was a need to make sure that the child was not picked out and did not become a subject of bullying. To ensure the healthy interaction of the child through the inclusion model, the normal children must be aware that there

was going to be an inclusion. It was also important for the parents to monitor the happiness level of the children.

Theme 3

The third theme was that a strengthened support system for children with autism must be advocated through accessible information and services. This subsection contains findings for this theme. A support system from parents and other parties must be developed to advocate the development of the children. The support felt by a child with ASD was also important in making sure that there was someone who looked after the child with autism. According to Participant 5, she was supportive of her son. She would volunteer in different activities for the welfare of her son:

The teachers did not seem to like this and appeared to feel I was being intrusive. While in kindergarten, I attempted to have him tested but I was told that my child did not have Asperger's. Because of problems in the first grade, my child's 504 did not transfer. It was noticed by this teacher that there was a problem. I am an advocate for my child's services and hiss IEP and the teachers now seem to be very supportive.

There was a need for the teachers to support the students. Participant 5 also felt that the people always sided with the school and that the mainstream teachers were not as dependable because they were not educated about special education. She mentioned that a parent had to be an advocate for the betterment of the child's condition. Quoting her:

I feel that my parenting style and advocating for my child made a huge difference. He still needs assistance with his social interaction but he does well academically. I believe that stress made me participate more due to fears of my son not getting the services he needed.

The accessibility of information and services would also create an impact to the development of the children with ASD. According to Participant 5:

I would like for other parents to know that many public schools will not volunteer to test. I have found that it's normal for the school system to say the child has ADD or ADHD. It is important not to let the school push you around. When the school pushes, the parent should push to get what's best for their child.

There were times when the schools and even the educators would not provide reliable services and information for the children with ASD. Likewise, Participant 6 noted that there was not sufficient presence of services available for the learning of the children with ASD. According to her:

Since autism was fairly new to the school districts or parents, they did not recognize there was a need to have an IEP. We were just told that he was shy or off but not told what the issue was. There were not many available resources.

There is also the stress of the school district not wanting to provide services.

There was also the lack of information that made it more difficult for the parents to assist their children. According to her:

When my child was diagnosed, there was less information available. We had to dig and find information on our own. There is much more information available about autism. Look for the signs and find help or support early to assist your child.

Based on these interviews, the parents must continuously advocate for the provision of more services.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

To display evidence of trustworthiness, in the phenomenological study, I used credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability. I established credibility by presenting the topic of discussion and relaying the research questions in a clear and concise manner, throughout the study. I provided each participant with the same opportunity to answer the same interview questions, without unintended interruptions or the need to prematurely end before necessary. I further established credibility with the use of the demographic questionnaire, which offered an additional data sources. I transcribed the data and reviewed the transcripts multiple times, obtaining multiple data sources. I also maintained a journal throughout the research project. In this study, 17 codes emerged out of the lived experiences of the parents who have students with ASD. Furthermore, I established transferability by providing a thick description of the data (Lincoln & Guba, 2005). With the thick description, others could apply the data to their situations.

I established dependability of the results using an audit trail through proper handling of data collected from the participants. The audit trail consisted of chronological narrative entries of research activities, interviews, transcriptions, and initial coding efforts (Creswell, 2013). I kept audio files of the interviews and had the transcript of the responses readily available for consultation. I stored both the audio files and the transcripts under lock and key. These will stay stored for 5 years, as required by Walden

University. After analysis of the data, I conferred with a committee member/dissertation chair to assist in establishing dependability. To establish confirmability, I also used reflexivity. Meaning, I remained honest with the interviewees regarding my previous background as a special education teacher. I also allowed the participants and their responses to shape the study by allowing them to provide as little or as much feedback needed to present their experience(s). I coded data until major themes and perceptions emerged and I reached saturation.

Results

The following themes emerged from the analysis of the responses of the participants based on their perceptions and lived experiences. (a) The inclusion model of education can either have positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD. (b) The development of emotional skills of autistic children can be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. (c) A strengthened support system for children with autism must be advocated through accessible information and services. This part of the chapter will reflect the answers to the research questions of the study.

Research Question 1

Research Question 1 stated, what are the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of students with ASD regarding the efficacy of the inclusion model of education on their children's academic success? The efficacy of the inclusion model was evaluated by the lived experiences and the perceptions of the parents on how the inclusion model applied to their personal lives and to the lives of their children. In the inclusion model,

Participant 5 felt that her son did well, particularly in inclusion. Her son, however, demonstrated focus problems shown by his social quirks. According to her:

Students seem to be very accepting of him. If they didn't like the quirks, they would ignore him and this would be tough at times. We had great special education teachers but the general education teacher seemed to make things difficult. Things seemed to get tougher as he aged. He started exhibiting arrogance and conceitedness. This caused me to be concerned about his developmental stage. When he met for his IEP meeting, we discussed with the team. He was able to begin lunch bunch. He would meet other students and participate in social skills classes.

I concluded, based on the lived experiences of Participant 5, the inclusion model indeed allowed her son to be more participative in activities.

It was not always true that the inclusion model would always have a positive effect on the students. There were times when the inclusion model could prove detrimental than helpful to the development of the child. The school and the inclusion model of education could influence the academic and non-academic developments of the students. According to Participant 7:

My child started in Catholic school but we were advised that he would need to either go the public school or be homeschooled due to his behaviors. The private school had not support for kids with autism. Since taking him out of private school, he has always been in an inclusion learning setting. In the public setting here, there was no alternative to inclusion. I was initially told that my child was

shy and that sometimes he doesn't like the assignment so he would not participate and throw angry fits. In second grade, the fits increased and the school did not know how to deal with it. We were constantly asked to pick him up from school. When we moved him to the public school, the experience was much better.

Research Question 2

Research Question 2 stated, what are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding their role in the inclusion model of education? The parents played an important role in the success of the inclusion model. Based on the lived experiences, I discuss the perceptions of the participants on the role of the parents in this part of the chapter. Participant 1 believed that the success of the inclusion model depended on the willingness of the parents to try something new that might be helpful for the child with ASD. Quoting Participant 1:

Try everything. Try it all. Respond. Constantly ask questions. Constantly keep on your child. Make sure your child is doing their part. They have to be accountable for what they are doing. You cannot do everything for them. They have to do the work.

Thus, while I inferred that the parents must learn how to be proactive in advocating for their children, it was also the role of the parents to teach the children how to advocate for themselves. Parents should also know how to take advice from other people and to discern which advice worked on specific instances.

The role of the parents could also be that of a mediator between the teachers and the child. According to Participant 2, "He had a 504 plan and my experience was I had to

be sort of constantly involved, contacting teachers, talking to teachers, making suggestions kind of a daily thing." The parents should also have an answer to the questions posed by the teachers on how to handle the children with ASD. Participant 2 encouraged the parents to be more active in participating in the inclusion model:

I would encourage people to try to spend as much time as they can in the school and in the classroom and make sure that the children are given the interventions and the attention that they say they are being given. Bring advocates with you if you have worked with other providers set them in to observe because it is very difficult as parents. What happened to me is that I would hear one story from my son and I would hear another story from the teacher and oftentimes the truth was somewhere in between.

According to Participant 4, she served the role of advocating for her son's needs; in trying to do so, she ensured that an educational team promoted her son's welfare. The parents should cooperate with the teachers and educators to ensure holistic development of the students. According to her:

While I will stand firm as advocate for my son vigorously, I also totally recognize that whatever I ask of the team, there are only so many hours in a day and so many resources in a public school. So whatever I ask of them that takes extra time, it is time that is not being spent on another student and so I do see my role as being one of trying to help the educators to see my son's needs clearly. I see my role as being the one with the most intricate invested interest in the success of my son in that educational setting.

Participant 5 noted that the parents should be advocates in getting the best for their child because the schools would not always be supportive of the child's welfare: "It is important not to let the school push you around. When the school pushes, the parent should push to get what's best for their child." The parents should always be the ones to assess and evaluate if the inclusion model was working for the benefit of their children. If the inclusion model did not promote the welfare of the child, it was also the duty of the parents to find a place more conducive for the education of the child with ASD.

According to Participant 7, participating in the inclusion model should be the choice of both the parents and the child: "We are okay with inclusion because we wanted him to have the most normal life possible. If the child is not ready for inclusion, it could be unfair to the regular education students." Participant 7 further mentioned, "For some autistic children, it may not be the proper setting. If we did not advocate for him, it seems like he would be a bit more restrictive." Thus, Participant 7 believed that the role of the parents also involved encouraging the child with ASD to absorb and live the life of a normal student. The parents should also make sure that the inclusion was the proper setting for the child to ensure that the child and the regular students both benefited from the interaction.

Research Question 3

Research Question 3 stated, what are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding the stresses that may result from their perceived roles in the inclusion model of education? Participant 1 had two children diagnosed with

ASD. I inferred that the lived experiences of this parent would pose more stressors compared to those who only had one child with ASD. According to Participant 1:

It is like going to work, you like some people, and you don't like others. But that is also a great stressor because you know how much you lost in a short amount of time with these kids than with a typical developed kid and that is a stressor. When my younger son was in the two months of inclusion, it was horrible, it was devastating. He had not a clue how to do the work they gave him, very depressing, very sad.

Participant 1 mentioned that parents needed more patience to understand the inclusion model and not have this educational system model a source of stress. With her older son, she mentioned that her son could not go to college because his writing was horrible. She had a problem with helping her son obtain an acceptable score on the SAT to make him desirable to colleges. She even focused on watching the GPA of her son, not knowing all of these focuses created stressors. Quoting Participant 1, she mentioned, "There is always that stress. What don't I know? You always know there is something that you don't know." Thus, the idea of uncertainty remained present among parents of children with ASD.

According to Participant 2, his biggest stress was when no one seemed to understand. There was no sense of understanding with the teachers and school of how much he really struggled and the kind of help that he needed. He said, "I regularly ran into people who believed it was just a behavior issue and that we weren't good parents or he wasn't raised well or we weren't tough enough on him and he was lazy." Handling

stress could also affect the life of the child with ASD. According to Participant 2, "It led to us taking him out of the school because it was so stressful and I was trying to be in graduate school myself and there just wasn't enough time to do both. He was miserable." The lack of support from the school was also evident and caused stress. The teachers and school administrators were less interested in helping the child as the child aged. Likewise, there was no sufficient time or resources where the child with ASD could succeed.

For Participant 3, the 504 program was also a stressor:

The first one is that they wanted to give him a 504. I understand that you need to go slow; you don't just jump into an IEP (Individualized Education Program). But they left that too long, from kindergarten and first and second grade he had a 504. By second grade, I said this kid needs an IEP for goodness sake. I designed it with my cousin who is a special Ed teacher.

Based on these interviews, the stress level that these parents experienced increased due to having an educational system that was not supportive to the students.

Parents have experience with various stressors in dealing with other parties to promote the welfare of their children with ASD. According to Participant 4, the answer to the questions would vary on how the parents handled different situations, even on the level of educational attainment of the parents. As a person who already attained a degree in PhD and as a teacher in a private institution who came from a family of educators, Participant 4 understood the plight of the educators. According to Participant 4:

There are two sides of it. We walk into a room on one hand fearing what they are going to say potentially get hurt and feel bad for what they are going to tell you. On the other hand, you don't know what they are not saying. They have learned that people are going to react badly when they hear that Johnny is not perfect. And yet, I want to know because I can't advocate for my son what he needs unless I know what is happening.

Participant 4 experienced dealing with teachers of her son; these teachers seemed to struggle in telling him about his son's actions. The teachers would not be upfront because the parents of children with ASD might take offense. It was a stressor for Participant 4 and her husband because they lacked the complete picture on how their son was performing in school. The stress level of having a child with ASD even affected the most personal aspect of the life of Participant 4; however, as she said it, any amount of sacrifice or stress would be worth it as long as it was for the welfare of her child: "The amount of stress contributed to the end of my marriage, the amount of stress contributed to the change of my job, the amount of stress contributed to whether I get my exercise done."

Participant 5 said that the stressors often derived from a lack of support and knowledge about the child's condition. According to her, she still managed to move forward despite the stress. She mentioned, "I believe that the stress made me participate more due to fears of my son not getting services he needed." Based on these interviews, being involved in the development of the child with ASD was important. According to Participant 6, she was involved. She would make sure to calm her son down. She gave

information about how her son functioned and advised her son on how to decrease the stressors.

According to Participant 7, various stressors could cause stress to the parents. For example, his son could not do math and he even went to ask, "How he is supposed to be if he has Asperger's?" The teacher just wrote back, "Yes," to his question. Hence, this issue represented another stressor since teachers did not seem to understand why the children were different from other children who did not have ASD.

Summary

The chapter presented the data analysis and results of the study. The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an inclusion model, using the phenomenological design. The analysis employed the qualitative phenomenological approach to have an in-depth analysis of the study. I analyzed the responses from seven participants. The following themes emerged. (a) The inclusion model of education can either have positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD. (b) The development of emotional skills of autistic children can be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. (c) A strengthened support system for children with autism must be advocated through accessible information and services.

Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

Introduction

Researchers characterized ASD as a neurodevelopment disorder that affected a person's social interaction with others (Blumberg et al., 2013). Education researchers have brought this psychological disorder to the attention of the public. To address the concern of this psychological disorder, policymakers mandated the IDEA Act (2004) and the NCLB Act (2002) to provide equal opportunities to students with disabilities. Despite the wide adaptation of the inclusion model in the school system, scholars have highlighted the reservations of schools toward the inclusion model (Allison, 2012; Pasha, 2012; Rothstein, 2000; Watnick & Sacks, 2006). For instance, Allison (2012) pointed out that parents might think that cases existed in which the student's disabilities remained too severe to integrate in the classroom fully.

The purpose of this study was to develop a deep understanding of the perceptions and lived experiences of the parents of students with ASD regarding their education in an inclusion model, using the phenomenological design. In this study, I used a qualitative phenomenological research design to explore the themes and better describe the lived experiences of parents with an autistic child who participated in the inclusion model. The goal of this study was to address the following research questions:

RQ1. What are the lived experiences and perceptions of parents of students with ASD regarding the efficacy of the inclusion model of education on their children's academic success?

RQ2. What are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding their role in the inclusion model of education?

RQ3. What are the parents of students with ASD's lived experiences and perceptions regarding the stressors that may result from their perceived roles in the inclusion model of education?

In this study, I conducted seven secure teleconferences interviews with parents of ASD students currently enrolled in a school with an inclusion program. The parents had to reside in Pennsylvania to match the criteria for participation selection. The participants could be either the mother or the father of the children, as long as they self-identified as the primary caregiver to their child with ASD. At one point, I successfully recruited 10 parents. However, two parents lived outside of the designated region; hence, I excluded their data from the study. One parent dropped out of the study, leaving seven parents. Data collection ended at this point because no further participants met the selection criteria and I reached saturation.

In this chapter, I discuss the interpretation of the findings. The chapter also contains an alignment of the results to the existing literature. I also present the limitations of the study, as well as my recommendations for further research and implications from the findings. This chapter concludes with the summary of the key points.

Interpretation of the Findings

The following themes emerged from the analysis of the participants' responses based on their perceptions and lived experiences. (a) The inclusion model of education can either have positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD. (b)

The development of emotional skills of autistic children can be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. (c) A strengthened support system for children with autism must be advocated through accessible information and services.

Research Question 1

The one major theme that emerged while studying this research question included whether the inclusion model of education either had positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD. Participants perceived that the inclusion model of education could have positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD. This finding showed that parents had different experiences in the inclusion model of education. This finding supported the various findings from Leyser and Kirk (2011), Kasrai et al. (1999), and Yell (2006), who found that some parents of children with disabilities retained concerns over inclusion, while others saw it as a positive development.

I found that some parents agreed with their child participating in the inclusion model, which reflected Davey's (2004) findings. For example, Participant 3 mentioned that the inclusion model of education seemed a positive contribution. This participant felt this way because educators could use the inclusion model as a tool to aid children who did not need inclusion by raising awareness of the different types of people in the world. The participant posited that this could greatly aid in expanding a child's mind.

This participant's viewpoint supported several researchers' findings. For example, Nutbrown and Clough (2009) suggested that including special needs students with their

regular education cohorts heightened self-esteem and increased social skills. Other researchers have postulated that effective collaboration among teachers and parents may increase classroom expectations (Sayeski, 2009). When regular education students were taught alongside those with special needs, a greater level of tolerance and understanding was fostered (Staub & Peck, 1995; Mastropieri et al., 2007; Newburn & Shiner, 2006).

All students were taught about equality, although in different ways. For example, students with disabilities were taught equality by showing them that they were not so different from their nondisabled peers, while nondisabled students were taught equality by showing them that different people existed. These different people deserved the same kind of respect. The findings from this study and the literature (Staub & Peck, 1995; Mastropieri et al., 2007; Newburn & Shiner, 2006) showed support for inclusion because of the possible positive collaboration process that may occur.

However, despite the studies that found positive effects of inclusion (Staub & Peck, 1995; Mastropieri et al., 2007; Newburn & Shiner, 2006), one must note that this study included all special needs students and was not limited only to autistic students, which may color the results. Leyser and Kirk (2004) posited that parents of students with milder disabilities often perceived inclusion as a positive development, as compared to the parents of students with moderate to severe disabilities. These findings showed that the opposing views of parents toward the inclusion model might be due to the different types of autism. For instance, parents of students with less severe disabilities were more likely to push to have their children included in the classroom with regular students.

Parents of students with more severe disabilities tended to fear social isolation, which could lead these students to fall behind (Leyser & Kirk, 2004).

One of the participants in this study expressed this negative aspect of inclusion, acknowledging that times occurred when the inclusion model could have a detrimental effect, rather than a helpful one, on the child. Participant 7 mentioned,

My child started in Catholic school, but we were advised that he would need to either go the public school or be homeschooled due to his behaviors. The private school had no support for kids with autism. Since taking him out of private school, he has always been in an inclusion learning setting. In the public setting here, there was no alternative to inclusion. I was initially told that my child was shy and that sometimes he doesn't like the assignment, so he would not participate and throw angry fits. In second grade, the fits increased and the school did not know how to deal with it. We were constantly asked to pick him up from school. When we moved him to the public school, the experience was much better.

From this perspective, the varied types of schools available to these special needs children actually played a role in the outcome of the inclusion setting. Therefore, while I surmised that placing special education students in the same classroom as their nondisabled peers and holding them to the same standards increased self-esteem, such possible gains might be mitigated by the resulting difficulties they faced. These difficulties could stem from special education students being held up to standards that might, in reality, differ from their existing abilities.

Each school's leadership had different standards that they expected the child to uphold. As McLeskey and Waldron (2011b) mentioned, educators cannot solely rely on inclusion for the education of students with disabilities, especially if the emphasis on inclusion allows the efficacy of the programs or the achievement levels of the special students to relegate to the background.

Society's perception may change if educators focus on inclusion. People may perceive inclusion as a benefit to society because it has become a societal norm, without reference to the fact of whether it works best and most realistically for students with disabilities (McLeskey & Waldron, 2011b). Additionally, researchers discovered that leadership struggled to enact full inclusion beyond simply enacting the policy. For example, McCarthy et al. (2010) found that school administrators' experiences under the segregation system continued to permeate into their current policies. Some of these experiences with segregation consciously and unconsciously informed the school administrators' decisions regarding the inclusion model in their schools, and undermined the goals of full inclusion. Therefore, McCarthy et al. (2010) proposed that policies of inclusion in schools could not rely solely on legislation, as the personal and institutional factors that have been in place for long periods continue to exert influence on the school administrators.

This has resulted in a paradox, where leadership espouses an overt goal of inclusion, but may subscribe unconsciously to beliefs that reinforce a philosophy of difference (McCarthy et al., 2010). Leyser and Kirk (2011) conducted a study of parents of children with disabilities. The authors found that parents felt concerned about

inclusion. This concern developed because of a lack of knowledge and training for general education teachers to educate their child properly, a lack of resources on the part of the school to accommodate the special needs of their child, and a fear their peers might socially reject and tease their child by in a general education classroom. This finding parallels with Participant 7's experience. For example, Participant 7 clearly stated that the Catholic school lacked knowledge and resources to work properly with the child.

Research Question 2

The second research question has generated one major theme: The development of emotional skills of autistic children can be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. In addition to the comprehension skills of children with autism, their emotional skills should also be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. Educators should encourage human interaction so that children develop positive relationships with their peers. Participant 3 noted that children with autism must learn many nonverbal skills to interact with other people. If the child had yet to acquire these nonverbal skills, educators should continue educating the child in a non-inclusion class. According to Participant 3:

I noticed that a lot of the kids had severe issues: behavioral issues and tics. There was one boy who constantly blows his nose into a tissue and then eats it in front of the class. That took away from the class because the teacher had to say, "Stop, stop." We would always hear him down the hall yelling and screaming if he was having a fit. But again, he was a verbal kid and was a kid and he deserved to be there. But, it was just really hard for the kids.

This comment showed support for findings from other researchers. For instance, Avramidis (2005) found that leadership created contrasting concepts of inclusion when they created a standard for education based on narrow definitions of academic success. Standardizing a person poses a problem in education as each person has different disabilities, different communication levels, and different learning capabilities.

Other researchers supported this study's finding (DeSimone & Palmer, 2006). Their findings derived from teachers' perceptions of inclusion; however, these teachers' comments mirrored Participant 3's statement as well. DeSimone and Parmer (2006) found that a majority of their participants, who taught general education classes participating in inclusion, supported the idea of inclusion. However, these teachers felt that a general education classroom might not be the ideal place for students with disabilities, since they found it difficult to give these disabled students the attention and special services they required while covering the mandated curriculum (DeSimone & Palmer, 2006). This finding directly related to the comment above, which included an example of a disabled student interrupting the normal class and the teacher's inability to continue the natural flow of education due to this situation.

Generally, other researchers have found that this state of affairs holds true: teachers have indicated that although they believed in the inclusion model, they continued to have some reservations to teaching a fully included classroom (Damore & Murray, 2009). This reluctance might stem from a limited knowledge about the disabled population being served, inadequate training to service the population, limited support staff for problems that might arise, and the idea that the students with disabilities would

require more assistance and take time away from regular education students (Daane et al., 2000; Gartin & Murdick, 2005; Goodman & Williams, 2007). Participant 3 seemed to agree with these teachers and researchers' assessments of the situation.

Participant 3 further mentioned that the parents should allow the interaction of the child with ASD with other children. However, there was a need to make sure that the child was not picked out to become a subject of bullying. To ensure the healthy interaction of the child through the inclusion model, the other children must remain aware that inclusion is going to occur. In addition, the parents must monitor the happiness level of the children.

Participant 3's comment showed support for the necessity of educators, students, and parents to collaborate about the inclusion setting. However, some conflict may arise from collaboration if people do not remain sensitive to others' emotions. For example, McCabe (2007) conducted a study on limiting role conflict between parents and teachers of disabled children in inclusion programs, finding that parents and teachers needed to communicate more for services to be effective. He further reported that respect was an issue behind much of the conflict experienced by participants.

Teachers should remain sensitive to the emotional issues that might arise in the family. A stronger relationship might occur if educators were aware of the children's emotions. This concept of respect between teacher and parent could also apply to Participant 3's belief that the other students must understand the situation before entering the inclusion setting. All children must have a modicum of respect to treat one another ethically in the classroom. However, teachers and parents must first work together to

demonstrate the appropriate behavioral conduct by example (Howland et al., 2006). If they do not collaborate, then much of the hard work from the parents and educators may have contradicting outcomes for the child with disabilities.

Therefore, to work together effectively, Hall et al. (2004) advised that teachers must blend ideas. Key players in the inclusion model should conduct the following steps to foster success; (a) define what support students' needs, such as who will provide them, and how they will be provided; (b) adapt general education curriculum or settings to suit student needs and abilities; (c) accommodate students physically; (d) evaluate student outcomes; and (e) enhance understanding among all who interact with students with disabilities (Hall et al., 2004, pp. 10-11).

In summary, participants perceived that the development of emotional skills of autistic children could be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. Furthermore, parents played an important role in the success of the inclusion model. In relation to this finding, the existing literature showed that role conflicts between parents and teachers did occur. To assist with limiting role conflict, McCabe (2007) found that parents and teachers needed to communicate more for services to be effective. Findings also revealed that teachers and parents must demonstrate respect to resolve these conflicts effectively. Parents and teachers must work hand-in-hand to ensure that the needs of the students experienced an effective inclusion program (Howland et al., 2006).

Research Question 3

I designed the third research question to enhance findings about parents' perceived stress regarding their roles in the inclusion education model. The participants stated that they felt heightened stress from an inability to access information about their disabled child easily. Participants perceived that educators must advocate a strengthened support system for children with autism through accessible information and services, which supported the literature review's findings. For example, Martinez et al. (2012) posited that parents need access to knowledge about current research on specific disabilities; this access might help parents understand more about their child's disability. Therefore, establishing how parents access information about the inclusion model is essential for students with disabilities to succeed in their education.

Heightened stress levels for parents may derive from the negative effects of inadequate access to information, especially when parents perceive the school's leadership and educators as unhelpful. Participant 6 cited times when the schools and educators would not even provide reliable services and information for the children with ASD. Participant 6 noted that an insufficient presence of services existed for the learning of the children with ASD. According to her:

Since autism was fairly new to the school districts or parents, they did not recognize there was a need to have an IEP. We were just told that he was shy or off but not told what the issue was. There were not many available resources.

There is also the stress of the school district not wanting to provide services.

The lack of information also made it more difficult for the parents to assist their children. According to Participant 6:

When my child was diagnosed, there was less information available. We had to dig and find information on our own. There is much more information available about autism. Look for the signs and find help or support early to assist your child.

This statement showed that the parents must continuously advocate for the provision of more services, causing more undue stress.

In this regard, Epstein and Jansorn (2004) investigated how to involve parents in the education of their student effectively. Again, it was not enough to involve parents; their involvement must be productive and informed by current research on the issues facing students with disabilities. Epstein and Jansorn (2004) found that schools' leadership needed effective, purposeful, and planned partnership programs to involve parents in the education process. Parents felt grateful when teachers who took the time to show how they were involved and provided examples of how they could be of assistance in the learning process.

Therefore, a support system from parents and other parties must be developed to advocate the development of the children and lower stress levels. Participant No 5's showed an example of parental support. For example, she would volunteer in different activities for the welfare of her son:

The teachers did not seem to like this and appeared to feel I was being intrusive.

While in kindergarten, I attempted to have him tested, but I was told that my child

did not have Asperger's. Because of problems in the first grade, my child's 504 did not transfer. It was noticed by this teacher that there was a problem. I am an advocate for my child's services and his IEP and the teachers now seem to be very supportive.

Despite the positive aspect of support demonstrated in the comment above, the participant also cited misunderstandings that developed because of this support. Based on this participant's comment, a need also existed for teachers to support and understand the needs of students and parents. In addition, this participant's comments supported the literature's findings regarding role confusion (Stoner et al., 2005). In relation to special education and the specific roles that both parents and teachers played in the education of a student with disabilities, role stress might arise if either party was unclear on what their role is in the system (Stoner et al., 2005).

Parents may experience stressors through "role conflict" within the inclusion model when an expectation of their role or participation is inadequately defined or contradictory to their expectation (Pearlin, 1989). If the parent does not have adequate skills to resolve the conflict or participate as needed, due to other work or family obligations, the parent may experience an imbalance, frustration, and stress because of this uncertainty (Stoner et al., 2005). Being unable to resolve this conflict may also lead to chronic role strain (Pearlin, 1989). When roles are continually undefined, for the parents, this may cause added problems and threats in their daily lives (Pearlin, 1989). Similarly, if a teacher feels that their role is being undermined or contradicted by the

parent, they may feel stress and demoralization. Both of these instances may derive from individuals not doing what they perceive as their job.

Role conflict may also lead to greater dissatisfaction. Stoner et al. (2005) examined the lack of parental trust of the current services being provided to their student. The study's findings showed a correlation between distrust and dissatisfaction. If the parents had a lack of trust and were dissatisfied, they were less likely to participate in their required IEP meetings or participate in their expected role. For instance, Participant 5 demonstrated a lack of trust, stating that she felt that people always sided with the school. Furthermore, she felt that mainstream teachers did not receive proper education about special education. This belief seemed to foster a lack of trust in the system. She mentioned that a parent had to be an advocate for the betterment of the child's condition. She stated,

I feel that my parenting style and advocating for my child made a huge difference.

He still needs assistance with his social interaction but he does well academically.

I believe that stress made me participate more due to fears of my son not getting the services he needed.

The accessibility of information and services would also have an impact on the development of children with ASD. According to Participant 5:

I would like for other parents to know that many public schools will not volunteer to test. I have found that it's normal for the school system to say the child has ADD or ADHD. It is important not to let the school push you around. When the school pushes, the parent should push to get what's best for their child.

Titone (2005) also supported the notions that working together was important and that parents needed better access to information about their child's education to lower stress levels. In his study, parents of the focus group showed concern that not all participants in their child's education worked together. In addition, within the focus groups, parents suggested that special education and regular education teachers should understand the scope of each person's participation. The parents emphasized the need for teachers to have a great understanding of the overall curriculum to "take it, diversify it, differentiate it, and make it more accessible to the student with special needs" (Titone, 2005, p. 21). In other words, these teachers must not just learn how to interact with and teach their students using information gleaned from a book, but through experience and adapting to that experience as well. This concept supported findings from Research Question 3 that educators must advocate a strengthened support system for children with autism through accessible information and services.

Parents of students with ASD experience stressors related from several factors, such as stress due to limited support from the school system, limited resources available, varied issues with role conflict (Pearlin et al., 1989). These stressors presented from the parents surrounding social structures and their location within the structure (Pearlin et al., 1989) being that the parent in the main advocate, for the student. When dealing with the stressors, they activated what Pearlin (1989) identified as mediators. For the parents of students with ASD, these mediators were influenced by the effects of the stressful experiences and their manifestations. One parent stated that she would become "mama bear," which caused her to push harder for the things needed for her student with ASD.

With the added stress, Pearlin (1989) believed that stress could manifest in many different ways, to include both physical and emotional ailments. The stress may result in problems of the cardiovascular, endocrine, or immune system and may cause anxiety or depression (Pearlin, 1989). Although none of the parents provided the actual terms on how the stress may have affected them physically or emotionally, a few of parents reported that the stress affected their family life. For one parent, this caused stress between the parents, which resulted in divorce, while another parent advised that she felt bad for having to work so much more with her student with ASD compared to her other none ASD student.

Learning is a continual process, which has no limits as to where it may take place; in addition, the school, community, and home play a huge role in what and how students learn (Epstein, 2001). Further, Epstein (2001) found that parents felt that they lacked sufficient information from the school or community to be productively involved. With this lack of clarity, schools, communities, and or families have a possibility of positively or negatively influencing the child's learning environment. For instance, if a parent of a disabled child has specific ideas about how to educate and socialize their child, these ideas must be close to what is being taught in school, since a contradiction may confuse the child and cause them not to learn effectively. Similarly, the school must tailor its program to fit the needs of the parents, given that parents also play a large role in the support of a child with disability and may be more aware of certain personal factors that, if accounted for, can help a child overcome their disability and achieve academic success. Parents may have reduced stress levels if more clarification occurs throughout the entire

inclusion process. This clarification includes understanding their parental role in the education process, understanding the curriculum their disabled child will follow, having easy access to knowledge about their child's development, and being provided with information and knowledge regarding their child's disability. This clarification may lead to positive outcomes for students with disabilities.

Limitations of the Study

The study has two important limitations. First, the sample size of seven parents was not the number intended for this study, although the final sample size was acceptable for phenomenological research (Creswell, 2013; Marshall, 1996). I intended the original sample size for this study to equate to 12 parents, even though the acceptable range equated to five to 25 or even one to 100 participants, according to Creswell (2013). Based on best practices of this form of qualitative research, seven interviews provided sufficient data to reach saturation of the interview topic.

Best practices also dictate that the researcher test the interview questions with subjects whom have similar attributes to the people intended for the study (Creswell, 2013; Marshall, 1996). Therefore, two interviews took place with parents who lived in Virginia. The interview questions were tested for clarity and logic. However, I could not use those two interviews as data in this study because the parents lived in Virginia; the criteria required that parents live in Pennsylvania. Therefore, I used a number of recruitment activities, as described in Chapter 3, to find 12 parents, as referred by my contact. Once I interviewed these parents, I engaged the snowball technique to identify other parents of children with autism.

Altogether, I recruited 10 parents; one potential participant did not respond to follow-up phone calls to set up the interview. Therefore, I lost data from one parent due to dropping out, and I excluded two parents' data from analysis because they lived outside the region. Seven participants ultimately participated in the study, and interview analyses showed similar themes across all research questions.

The participants knew that they could drop out at any time, per ethical regulations. Therefore, I could not stop any participants from leaving the study. With a larger selected area, another researcher could gather a larger sample size that might account for participants who later remove themselves from the study.

Recommendations

I recommend that future researchers consider modifying the research methodology and use a quantitative methodology to explore whether the perceptions of these parents apply to a representative sample of the population. Researchers could use the quantitative methodology to study the relationship between certain variables, such as parents versus educators' understanding of inclusion practices. I also recommend that future researchers use a mixed method research design. The mixed methods design also contains a blend of interviews and numerical data, which may allow for a richer understanding on inclusion practices for disabled children. For example, a researcher may study teachers' perceptions of disabled students' success levels in inclusive classrooms and compare these to actual test scores from these students.

With the discussions of the limitations in the previous section, I recommend that future researchers seek to consider different segments of the population to see if the

perceptions are similar across different samples of parents of ASD. Additionally, researchers can seek to investigate these kinds of questions in person, using the results of this study to inform their work. I also recommend that researchers focus on other variables that may have affected the findings of the current study.

The existing literature recommended that future studies should focus on special education and social validity (Ryndak et al., 2012). Ryndak et al. (2012) also suggested that students with disabilities should receive equal opportunity to speak for themselves. Lastly, the existing literature recommended that helping students with disabilities should not be limited to the implemented policies, such as the NCLB Act (2002; Ryndak et al., 2012). Furthermore, students with disabilities must be involved in community-based contexts, such as employment sites for them to acclimate themselves to their future endeavors (Ryndak et al., 2012).

Based on the findings, I recommend that parents and practitioners must remain aware of their important roles in helping students with disabilities cope in the challenges faced in school. I also recommend that parents and practitioners work hand-in-hand, for the findings showed support for needing a supportive collaboration system in the inclusion model for education (McCabe, 2007). This support may occur through fostering empathy and respect about the inclusion situation, as cited by McCabe (2007).

Implications

There has yet to be a consensus among medical professionals regarding the cause or cure for ASD, which has led to the continued gaps in understanding its full nature (Shattuck & Parish, 2008). Mazurik-Charles and Stefanou (2010) noted that the most

important aspect noted in children with ASD involved their social interactions. This aspect would necessitate that students with ASD in inclusive classrooms receive special services that would help them forge meaningful relationships with their classmates and learn along with their peers. Therefore, because of this study highlighting this perception from parents, I raised awareness of the need for collaboration.

The primary implication of the current research included the positive social change generated from this study. The parents, caregivers, teachers, and other people involved in helping students with disabilities could initially reflect positive social change. From this research study, one can see how parents perceive the inclusion model. This perception contributes to the available research on the topic of inclusion by providing real perceptions of parents as opposed to perceptions of other stakeholders, as examined by previous researchers (Shattuck & Parish, 2008). Understanding parental viewpoints should aid in schools' leadership making valid decisions on curriculum with more understanding about the effects inclusion programs have on the parents. Moreover, these educators and school leadership now may have more information because of this study, which can help them in how they design or approach inclusion settings.

Another implication of the study includes that parents may have a guide for their decisions in including their children with disabilities to regular classrooms as part of the inclusion model. This study showed that parents might become confused about the roles they should take in their child's education. The literature showed that this role confusion could easily impede the educational process (Stoner et al., 2005). Hence, raising

awareness of the importance of defining roles may help parents understand better ways in which to help their children achieve success in school.

This study may also highlight aspects that could positively help and or influence the children with emotional disabilities. By providing more understanding of how their parents perceive their situation, the children may have an easier time being understood by schools and or researchers. If their community at school demonstrates more understanding toward the student, then they may feel more supported, especially if they see their parents being involved in their schooling in this manner. As seen from the literature review, collaboration may be key to helping these students feel more comfortable in an inclusion setting. Therefore, any research that encourages this type of collaboration, such as this study, may have positive effects on the inclusion setting by heightening the available knowledge on the subject.

The findings of the study can also help school administrators to consider adapting the inclusion model for students with disabilities in their respective schools. Specifically, school administrators may develop educational programs that cater to the emotional aspects students with disabilities experience. The literature showed that educators who respect children with disabilities' emotions play a major role in helping students with disabilities in school succeed and feel comfortable (McCabe, 2007). Furthermore, school administrators may focus on effectively providing parents with information about the status of their children, since this study revealed that such a support system remains necessary.

Based on the individual, positive aspects of adapting the inclusion model, one can see how this will aid a larger unit, such as the entire family or the class of students who are involved with the emotionally disabled child. With more understanding, which this study provides, negative feelings of confusion or anger may be avoided. This may help students feel more adapted to the situation of inclusion. Because this study raises awareness of different perceptions, understanding of this subject should be raised as well. Therefore, enhanced understanding should aid in positive family reactions and positive outcomes amongst peers in the classroom.

This positive outcome for families and the classroom setting may represent larger positive outcomes to society as a whole. Society also suffers from this type of misunderstanding about emotional disabilities. Therefore, providing more understanding to society may aid the emotionally disabled child to feel more welcome in society as well, especially as society becomes more informed of these issues and perceptions. Another broader implication includes that if the children experience proper inclusion practices while at the school level, then the children may have an easier time outside of the school level interacting with society, as well. The children may understand how to function more appropriately in any given action, which will eventually further adapt society's perception of them.

Society may also benefit if this study helps administrators and educators adjust the inclusion curriculum to allow for a more conducive conversation with the parents about their roles. This type of inclusion setting would help demonstrate by example to the children in the classroom ways in which they should treat one another ethically.

Expanding a sense of kindness, beyond the concept of standardized inclusion, would help society broaden the view of disabilities. All people in society deserve equal treatment, regardless of their disabilities. If students see parents, educators, and administrators working together in a collaborative manner, then they may learn from this example and carry it with them into their future. This novel way of thinking and acting could positively affect the way these students react to society when they enter the workforce. Educators and teachers who provide examples of positive communication and demonstrate respect for one another may influence their students and children to broaden communication skills. These skills can help society by providing a more communicative and accepting generation.

This study also showed the need for broadening available understanding of disabilities in schools in general. This need represents a serious issue to society, as teachers educate children to prepare them to enter society, college, and or the workforce. If teachers and administrators do not have a proper understanding of disabilities, they may respond to parents in a non-sympathetic manner. Moreover, if parents require testing for their children, as mentioned by participants in this study, then the school leadership might feel more accommodating to this request, especially if more studies, similar to this one, show similar results. If these issues are addressed, society will greatly benefit from more well-informed, educated, and sympathetic teachers, administrators, and parents.

For future research, researchers may use the findings of the current study by focusing on examining the role of emotional aspects in helping students with disabilities. Furthermore, researchers may also focus on examining the importance of support system

in terms of information dissemination. They may also use a larger sample that only includes autistic children, so that they can avoid any skew to the results. More research remains necessary to add further understanding to this issue so that the individual, their families, and society may broaden their viewpoints and find more acceptance amongst them.

Conclusion

This qualitative phenomenological study aimed to examine the lived experiences and perceptions of the parents of children with ASD regarding the inclusion model of education, in order to understand the phenomenon better. Findings from this study showed the following themes. (a) The inclusion model of education can either have positive or negative effects on different children diagnosed with ASD. (b) The development of emotional skills of autistic children can be improved to enrich their participation and social relationships with other people. (c) A strengthened support system for children with autism must be advocated through accessible information and services. Through the findings of the study and available literature, I concluded that there are opposing responses about the inclusion model. Moreover, I found that support systems for information dissemination should be strengthened. Furthermore, I found that educators should develop their emotional skills to help students with disabilities.

References

- Agran, M., Cavin, M., Wehmeyer, M., & Palmer, S. (2010). Promoting active engagement in the general education classroom and access to the general education curriculum for students with cognitive disabilities. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 45(2), 163-174. Retrieved from http://daddcec.org/Publications/ETADDJournal.aspx
- Allison, R. (2012). The lived experiences of general and special education teachers in inclusion classrooms: A phenomenological study. *Canyon Journal of Interdisciplinary Studies*, *I*(1), 36-47. Retrieved from https://cirt.gcu.edu/research/publication_presentation/gcujournals/cjis
- Alquiraini, T., & Gut, D. (2012). Critical components of successful inclusion of students with severe disabilities: Literature review. *International Journal of Special Education*, 27(1), 42-59. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialed.com/
- American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* (5th ed.). Washington, DC: Author.
- Autism Speaks. (2011). *Autism facts*. Retrieved March 12, 2014 from http://autismspeaks.org/what-autism/facts-about-autism
- Avramidis, E. (2005). Developing inclusive schools: Changing teachers' attitudes and practices through critical professional development. Paper presented at the Inclusive and Supportive Education Congress, International Special Education Conference, Inclusion: Celebrating Diversity, Glasgow, Scotland.

- Bernard, H. (2013). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative methods.

 Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Blumberg, S., Bramlett, M., Kogan, M., Shieve, L., Jones, J., & Lu, M. (2013). Changes in prevalence of parent-reported autism spectrum disorder in school-aged U.S. children: 2007 to 2011-2012. *National Health Statistics Reports*, 65, 1-11.

 Retrieved from https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/products/nhsr.htm
- Bowe, F. (2005). *Making inclusion work*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill Prentice Hall.
- Busby, R., Ingram, R., Bowron, R., Oliver, J., & Lyons, B. (2012). Teaching elementary children with autism: Addressing teacher challenges and preparation needs. *Rural Education*, *3*(2), 27-35. Retrieved from http://www.nrea.net/
- Carothers, D., & Taylor, R. (2004). How teachers and parents can work together to teach daily living skills to children with autism. *Focus on Autism and Other*Developmental Disabilities, 19(2), 102-104. doi:10.1177/10883576040190020501
- Carter, E., Lane, K., Cooney, M., Weir, K., Moss, C., & Machalicek, W. (2013). Parents assessments of self-determination importance and performance for students with autism or intellectual disability. *American Journal on Intellectual and Developmental Disabilities*, 118(1), 16-31. doi:10.1352/1944-7558-118.1.16
- Center for Disease Control and Prevention. (2012). Prevalence of autism spectrum disorders—Autism and developmental disabilities monitoring network, 14 sites, United States, 2008. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 61(3), 1-19. Retrieved https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/index.html

- Childre, A., & Chambers, C. (2005). Family perceptions of student centered planning and IEP meetings. *Education and Training in Developmental Disabilities*, 40(3), 217-233. Retrieved from http://www.daddcec.org/
- Chronister, J., & Chan, F. (2006). A stress process model of caregiving for individuals with traumatic brain injury. *Rehabilitation Technology*, *51*(3), 190-221. doi:10.1037/0090-5550.51.3.190
- Church, E. (2009). Using medical imaging to decipher autism. *Radiologic Technology*, 80(6), 523-542. Retrieved from http://www.radiologictechnology.org
- Conderman, G., & Johnston-Rodriguez, S. (2009). Beginning teachers' views of their collaborative roles. *Preventing School Failure*, *53*(4) 235-244. doi:10.3200/PSFL.53.4.235-244
- Creswell, J. (2005). Educational research: Planning, conducting, and evaluating quantitative and qualitative approaches to research (2nd ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill/Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J. (2013). Qualitative inquiry and research design: Choosing among five approaches (4th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Daane, C., Beirne-Smith, M., & Latham, D. (2000). Administrators' and teachers' perceptions of the collaborative efforts of inclusion in the elementary grades. *Education*, 121(2), 331-339. Retrieved from http://www.projectinnovation.com/education.html

- Dal Santo, T., Scharlach, A., & Nielson, J. (2007). A stress process model of family caregiver service utilization: Factors associate with respite and counseling service use. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, 49(4), 29-49. doi:10.1300/J083v49n04_03
- Damore, S., & Murray, C. (2009). Urban elementary school teachers' perspectives regarding collaborative teaching practices. *Remedial and Special Education*, 30(4), 234-244. doi:10.1177/0741932508321007
- Davey, T. (2004). A multiple family group intervention for homeless families: The weekend retreat. *Health and Social Work*, 29, 326-329. Retrieved from https://academic.oup.com/hsw
- Davis, W. (1989). The regular education initiative debate: Its promises and problems. *Exceptional Children*, 55, 44-447. doi:10.1177/001440298905500507
- Day, C. (2012). New lives of teachers. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 39(1), 7-26.

 Retrieved from http://www.teqjournal.org/
- DeSimone, J., & Parer, R. (2006). Middle school mathematics teachers' beliefs about inclusion of students with learning disabilities. *Learning Disabilities Research* and *Practice*, 21, 98-110. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2006.00210.x
- Dybvik, A. (2004). Autism and the inclusion mandate. *Education Next*, 4(1), 42-49.

 Retrieved from http://educationnext.org/journal/
- Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975, 20 U.S. Code § 1400 (1975).

- Epstein, J. (2001). Building bridges of home, school, and community: The importance of design. *Journal of Education for Students Place at Risk*, 6(1&2), 161-168. doi:10.1207/S15327671ESPR0601-2_10
- Epstein, J., & Jansorn, N. (2004). School, family, and community partnerships link the plan. *The Education Digest*, 69(6), 19-23. Retrieved from https://www.eddigest.com/
- Familia-Garcia, M. (2001). Special and regular education teachers' Attitudes toward

 Inclusive programs in an urban community school. Retrieved from ERIC

 databased. (ED461657)
- Feldman, R. (2008). *Understanding psychology* (10th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Friedlander, D. (2009). Sam comes to school. Including students with autism in your classroom. *The Clearing House*, 82(3), 141-144. doi:10.3200/TCHS.82.3.141-144
- Friend, M. (2007). Special education contemporary perspectives for school professionals

 IDEA 2004 update. New York, NY: Pearson.
- Friend, M., Cook, L., Hurley-Chamberlain, D., & Shamberger, C. (2010). Co-teaching:

 An illustration of the complexity of collaboration in special education. *Journal of Educational & Psychological Consultation*, 20(1), 9-27.

 doi:10.1080/10474410903535380
- Fuchs, D., Fuchs, L., & Stecker, P. (2010). The "blurring" of special education in a new continuum of general education placements and services. *Exceptional Children*, 76(3), 301-323. doi:10.1177/001440291007600304

- Gartin, B., & Murdick, N. (2005). IDEA 2004: The IEP. Remedial and Special Education, 26(6), 327-331. doi:10.1177/07419325050260060301
- Getzel, J., Lipham, J., & Campbell, R. (1968). *Educational administration as a social* process: Theory, research, practice. New York, NY: Harper & Row.
- Goodman, G., & Williams, C. (2007). Interventions for increasing the academic engagement of students with autism spectrum disorders in inclusive classrooms.

 *Teaching Exceptional Children, 39, 53-61. doi:10.1177/004005990703900608
- Hall, T., Vue, G., Koga, N., & Silva, S. (2004). Curriculum modification. Wakefield,MA: National Center on Accessing the General Curriculum.
- Hardman, M., Drew, C., & Egan, M. (2008). *Human exceptionality: School, community,* and family (10th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.
- Howland, A., Anderson, J. A., Smiley, A. D., & Abbott, D. J. (2006). School liaisons:

 Bridging the gap between home and school. *The School Community Journal*,

 16(2), 47-68. Retrieved from http://www.schoolcommunitynetwork.org/SCJ.aspx
- Idol, L. (2006). Toward inclusion of special education students in general education.

 *Remedial and Special Education, 27(2), 77-94.

 doi:10.1177/07419325060270020601
- Individuals With Disabilities Education Act of 1990, 20 U.S.C. §1400 (1990).
- Individuals With Disabilities Education Act of 2004, 20 U.S.C. § 1400 (2004).
- Jacobs, F., & Walker, D. (1978). Pediatricians and the Education for All Handicapped Children Act of 1975 (public law 94-142). *Pediatrics*, *61*, 135-137. Retrieved from http://pediatrics.aappublications.org

- Jivanjee, P., Kruzich, J., Friesen, B., & Robinson, A. (2007). Family perception of participation in educational planning for children receiving mental health services. *School Social Work Journal*, 32(1), 75-92. Retrieved from https://iassw.org/about/school-social-work-journal/
- Kanner, L. (1943). Autistic disturbances of affective contact. In H. Cameron (Ed.), *The nervous child* (2nd ed., pp. 217-250). Baltimore, MD: Child Care.
- Kasari, C., Freeman, S. F., Bauminger, N., & Alkin, M. C. (1999). Parental perspectives on inclusion: Effects of autism and Down syndrome. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 29(4), 297-305. doi:10.1023/A:1022159302571
- Labaree, D. (2011). Targeting teachers. *Dissent*, 58(3), 9-14. doi:10.1353/dss.2011.0068
- Leedy, P., & Ormond, J. (2001). *Practical research, planning, and design* (7th ed.).

 Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Lerman, D., Vorndran, C., Addison, L., & Kuhn, S. (2004). Preparing teachers in evidence-based practices for young children with autism. *School of Psychology Review*, 33(4), 510-526. Retrieved from http://naspjournals.org/
- Leyser, Y., & Kirk, R. (2004). Evaluating inclusion: An examination of parent views and factors influencing their perspectives. *International Journal of Disability*,

 Development and Education, 51(3), 271-285. doi:10.1080/1034912042000259233
- Leyser, Y., & Kirk, R. (2011). Parent's perspectives on inclusion and schooling of students with Angelman syndrome: Suggestions for educators. *International Journal of Special Education*, 26(2), 79-91. Retrieved from http://www.internationaljournalofspecialeducation.com

- Lincoln, Y., & Guba, E. (2005). Naturalistic inquiry. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Lohrmann, S., & Bambara, L. (2006). Elementary education teachers' beliefs about essential supports needed to successfully include students with developmental disabilities who engage in challenging behaviors. *Research and Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 31(2), 157-173.

doi:10.1177/154079690603100208

- Lowry, M., & Whitman, T. (1989). Generalizing of parenting skills: An early intervention program. *Child and Family Therapy*, *11*, 45-65. doi:10.1300/J019v11n01_04
- Majerovitz, S. (2007). Predictors of burden and depression among nursing home family caregivers. *Aging and Mental Health*, 11(3), 323-329. doi:10.1080/13607860600963380
- Mancil, G., Haydon, T., & Whitby, P. (2009). Differentiated effects of paper and computer-assisted social stories on inappropriate behavior in children with autism.
 Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities, 24, 205-215.
 doi:10.1177/1088357609347324
- Mandlawitz, M. R. (2002). The impact of the legal system on educational programming for young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 32(5), 495-508. doi:10.1023/A:1020502324718

- Marcus, L., & Schopler, E. (1989). Parents as co-therapists with autistic children. In C. Schafer & J. Briesmeister (Eds.), *Handbook of parent training: Parents as co-therapists for children's behavior problems* (pp. 498-500). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons.
- Marsh, E., & White, M. (2006). Content analysis: A flexible methodology. *Library Trends*, 55(1), 22-45. doi:10.1353/lib.2006.0053
- Marshall, M. (1996). Sampling for qualitative research. *Family Practice*, 13, 522-525. doi:10.1093/fampra/13.6.522
- Martinez, D., Conroy, J., & Ceretto, M. (2012). Parental involvement in the transition process of children with intellectual disabilities: The influence of inclusion on parent desires and expectations for postsecondary education. *Journal of Policy and Practice in Intellectual Disabilities*, 9(4), 279-288. doi:10.1111/jppi.12000
- Mastropieri, M., & Scruggs, T. (2010). *The inclusive classroom: Strategies for effective differentiated instruction*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson.
- Mastropieri, M., Scruggs, T., & Berkeley, S. (2007). Peers helping peers. *Educational Leadership*, 64(5), 54-58. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/
- Matthews, G., Smith, G., MacMillan, M., & Gilbert, T. (2012). *Mindfulness lifeworld*study: A longitudinal, phenomenological study of mindfulness-based stress

 reduction training as experienced by people with long-term conditions. Scotland:

 Queens Nursing Institute.

- Mayo Clinic. (2013). *Autism definitions*. Retrieved March 25, 2014 from http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/autism/basics/definition/con-20021148
- Mazurik-Charles, R., & Stefanou, C. (2010). Using paraprofessionals to teach social skills to children with autism spectrum disorders in the general education classroom. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, *37*(2), 161-169. Retrieved from http://www.projectinnovation.biz/journal_of_instructional_psychology
- McCabe, H. (2007). Parent advocacy in the face of adversity: Autism and families in the People 's Republic of China. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 22(1), 39-50. doi:10.1177/10883576070220010501
- McCarthy, M., Wiener, R., & Soodak, L. (2010). Vestiges of segregation in the implementation of inclusion policies in public high schools. *Educational Policy*, 26(2), 309-338. doi:10.1177/0895904810386596
- McLeskey, J. (Ed.) (2007). *Reflections on inclusion: Classic articles that shaped our thinking*. Arlington, VA: Council for Exceptional Children.
- McLeskey, J., Landers, E., Hoppey, D., & Williamson, P. (2011). Learning disabilities and the LRE mandate: An examination of national and state trends. *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 26(2), 60-66. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2011.00326.x
- McLeskey, J., Landers, E., Williamson, P., & Hoppey, D. (2010). Are we moving toward educating students with disabilities in less restrictive settings? *The Journal of Special Education*, 46(3), 1-10. doi:10.1177/0022466910376670

- McLeskey, J., Rosenberg, M., & Westling, D. (2010). *Inclusion: Effective practices for all students*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- McLeskey, J., & Waldron, N. (2011a). Educational programs for elementary students with learning disabilities: Can they be both effective and inclusive? *Learning Disabilities Research & Practice*, 26, 48-57. doi:10.1111/j.1540-5826.2010.00324.x
- McLeskey, J., & Waldron, N. (2011b). Full inclusion programs for elementary students with learning disabilities: Can they meet student needs in an era of high stakes accountability? Paper presented at the Council for Exceptional Children Convention, National Harbor, MD.
- Moore, K. (2011). The impact of inclusive service delivery on student achievement and instructional practices in the general education setting (Unpublished doctoral dissertation). Trevecca Nazarene University, Tennessee.
- Moustakas, C. (1994). Phenomenological research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Mueller, P. S., Ottenberg, A. L., Hayes, D. L., & Koenig, B. A. (2011). "I felt like the angel of death": Role conflicts and moral distress among allied professionals employed by the US cardiovascular implantable electronic device industry.

 Journal of Interventional Cardiac Electrophysiology, 32(3), 253-261.

 doi:10.1007/s10840-011-9607-8
- Muscott, H. S. (2002). Exceptional partnerships: Listening to the voices of families. *Preventing School Failure: Alternative Education for Children and Youth*, 46(2), 66-69. doi:10.1080/10459880209603348

- Nachshen, J., & Minnes, P. (2005). Empowerment in parents of school aged children with and without developmental disabilities. *Journal of Intellectual Disability Research*, 49(12), 889-904. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2788.2005.00721.x
- Naraian, S. (2011). Pedagogic voicing: The struggle for participation in an inclusive classroom. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 42(3), 245-262. doi:10.1111/j.1548-1492.2011.01130.x
- National Education Association. (2010). *Status of the American public school teacher* 2005-2006. Washington, DC: Author.
- National Institute of Mental Health. (2011). A parent's guide to autism spectrum disorder. What is autism spectrum disorder (ASD)? Retrieved February 4, 2013 from http://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/publications/a-parents-guide-to-autism-spectrum-disorder/what-is-autism-spectrum-disorder-asd.shtml
- Newburn, T., & Shiner, M. (2006). Young people, mentoring and social inclusion. *Youth Justice*, 6(1), 23-41. doi:10.1177/1473225406063450
- Nickels, P. (2010). Educational interventions for children with autism spectrum disorders: Perceptions of parents and teachers in a Northeast Tennessee school system (Doctoral dissertation). Retrieved from ETSU Libraries Online. (1010110-152717)
- Nimante, D., & Tubele, S. (2010). Key challenges for Latvian teachers in mainstream schools: A basis for preparing teachers for inclusion. *Journal of Research in Special Education Needs*, 10(s1), 168-176.

 doi:10.1111/j.1471-3802.2010.01169.x

- No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act of 2001, Pub. L. No. 107-110, § 115, Stat. 1425 (2002).
- Nutbrown, C., & Clough, P. (2009). Citizenship and inclusion in the early years: understanding and responding to children's perspective on 'belonging'.

 *International Journal of Early Years Education, 17(3), 191-206.

 doi:10.1080/09669760903424523
- Osgood, R. (2005). *The history of inclusion in the United States*. Washington, DC: Gallaudet University Press.
- Pasha, S. (2012). Readiness of urban primary schools for inclusive education in Pakistan.

 **Journal of Research and Reflections in Education, 6(2), 113-128. Retrieved from http://ue.edu.pk/jrre/
- Patton, M. (2002). *Qualitative research & evaluation methods* (3rd ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Pearlin, L. (1983). Role strains and personal stress. In H. Kaplan (Ed.), *Psychological stress* (pp. 3-32). New York, NY: Academic Press.
- Pearlin, L. (1989). The sociological study of stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 30, 241-256.
- Pearlin, L. (1995). Some conceptual perspectives on the origins and prevention of social stress. Paper presented at Workshop on Social Stressors, Personal and Social Resources and their Health Consequences, sponsored by the National Institute of Mental Health Office of Prevention and Special Projects, Bethesda, MD.

- Pearlin, L. (1999). The stress process revisited. In C. Aneshensel & J. Phelan (Eds.),

 Handbook of sociology of mental health (pp. 395-415). New York, NY: Kluwer

 Academic/Plenum.
- Pearlin, L., Morton, A., Lieberman, M., Menaghan, E., & Mullan, J. (1981). The stress process. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 22, 337-356. Retrieved from http://www.asanet.org/
- Pearlin, L., & Skaff, M. (1996). Stress and the life course: A paradigmatic alliance. *The Gerontologist*, 36(2), 239-247. doi:10.1093/geront/36.2.239
- Rothstein, L. (2000). Higher education and the future of disability policy. *Alabama Law Review*, 52, 241-270. Retrieved from https://www.law.ua.edu/lawreview/
- Ryndak, D., Alper, S., Hughes, C., & McDonnell, J. (2012). Documenting impact of educational contexts on long-term outcomes for students with significant disabilities. *Education and Training in Autism and Developmental Disabilities*, 47(2), 127-138. Retrieved from http://daddcec.org/Publications/ETADDJournal.aspx
- Sayeski, K. (2009). Defining special educators' tools: The building blocks of effective collaboration. *Intervention in School & Clinic*, 45(1), 38-44. doi:10.1177/1053451209338398
- Scheurmann, B., Webber, J., Boutot, E., & Goodwin, M. (2003). Problems with personnel preparation in autism spectrum disorders. *Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities*, 18(3), 197-206. doi:10.1177/10883576030180030801

- Shattuck, P., Narendorf, S., Cooper, B., Sterzing, P., Wagner, M., & Taylor, J. (2012).

 Postsecondary education and employment among youth with an autism spectrum disorder. *Pediatrics*, *129*, 1042-1049. doi:10.1542/peds.2011-2864
- Shattuck, P., & Parish, S. (2008). Financial burden in families of children with special health care needs: variability among States. *Pediatrics*, *122*, 13-18. doi:10.1542/peds.2006-3308
- Smith, D., & Tyler, N. (2010). *Introduction to special education: Making a difference* (7th ed.) Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill/Pearson Education.
- Solis, M., Vaughn, S., Swanson, E., & McCulley, L. (2012). Collaborative models of instruction: The empirical foundations of inclusion and co-teaching. *Psychology* in the Schools, 49(5), 498-510. doi:10.1002/pits.21606
- Soodak, L., Podell, D., & Lehman, L. (1998). Teacher, student, and school attributes as predictors of teachers' responses to inclusion. *The Journal of Special Education*, 31(4), 480-497. doi:10.1177/002246699803100405
- Stainback, S., & Smith, J. (2005). Inclusive education: Historical perspective. In R. Villa & J. Thousand (Eds.), *Creating an inclusive school* (pp. 12-26). Alexandria, VA: Association for Supervision and Curriculum Development.
- Staub, D., & Peck, C. A. (1995). What are the outcomes for nondisabled students?

 **Educational Leadership, 52(4), 36-40. Retrieved from http://www.ascd.org/publications/educational-leadership.aspx

- Stoner, J., Bock, S., Thompson, J., Angell, M., Heyl, B., & Crowley, E. (2005). Welcome to our world: Parent perceptions of the interactions between parents of young children with Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and education professionals.

 Focus on Autism and Other Developmental Disabilities, 20(1), 39-51.

 doi:10.1177/10883576050200010401
- Titone, C. (2005). The philosophy of inclusion: Roadblocks and remedies for the teacher and the teacher educator. *Journal of Educational Thought*, 39(1), 15-32. Retrieved from http://werklund.ucalgary.ca/node/14
- Torgensen, J. (2009). The response to intervention instructional model: Some outcomes from a large-scale implementation in reading first schools. *Society for Research in Child Development*, *3*(1), 38-40. doi:10.1111/j.1750-8606.2009.00073.x
- Trochim, W., & Donnelly, J. (2006). *The research methods knowledge base* (3rd ed.).

 Mason, OH: Cengage.
- Trussell, R., Hammond, H. & Ingalls, L. (2008). Capitalizing on parent and family partnerships through programming. *New Directions for Student Services*, 122, 43-56. doi:10.1002/ss.274
- U.S. Department of Education. (2011). 30th annual report to Congress on the implementation of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act, 2008.Washington, DC: Office of Special Education Programs.
- U.S. Government Accountability Office. (2005). *Title of work*. Washington, DC: Author.

- Uzair ul Hassan, M., Parveen, I., & Riffan-un-Nisa, (2010). Exploring teachers' perspectives: Qualms and possibilities for inclusive classes in Pakistan. *The Journal of International Association of Special Education*, 11(1), 56-63. Retrieved from http://www.iase.org/
- Vivilaki, V., & Johnson, M. (2008). Research philosophy and Socrates: Rediscovering the birth of phenomenology. *Nurse Researcher*, 16(1), 84-92. doi:10.7748/nr2008.10.16.1.84.c6755
- Voltz, D., & Collins, L. (2010). Leaders licensure consortium contexts: Beyond the Council for Exceptional Children and the interstate school. *Teacher Education* and Special Education, 33(1), 70-82. doi:10.1177/0888406409356676
- Von der Embse, N., Brown, A., & Fortain, J. (2011). Facilitating inclusion by reducing problem behaviors for students with autism spectrum disorder. *Intervention in School and Clinic*, 47(1), 22-30. doi:10.1177/1053451211406545
- Waldron, N., & McLeskey, J. (1998). The impact of a full-time Inclusive School Program (ISP) on the academic achievement of students with mild and severe learning disabilities. *Exceptional Children*, 64(2), 395-405. doi:10.1177/001440299806400308
- Watnick, B., & Sacks, A. (2006). A snapshot of teacher perceptions on full inclusion in an international urban community: Miami-Dade County, Florida. *Journal of the International Association of Special Education*, 7(1), 67-74. Retrieved from http://www.iase.org/

- Welch, M. (2000). Descriptive analysis of team teaching in two elementary classrooms:

 A formative experimental approach. *Remedial and Special Education*, 21(6), 366-376. doi:10.1177/074193250002100606
- Welsh, M., Parke, R. D., Widaman, K., & O'Neil, R. (2001). Linkages between children's social and academic competence: A longitudinal analysis. *Journal of School Psychology*, *39*(6), 463-482. doi:10.1016/S0022-4405(01)00084-X
- White, H. E. (2009). Increasing the achievement of African American males. *Report from* the Department of Research, Evaluation, and Assessment, 3, 1-23. Retrieved from http://www.seattleschools.org
- Wisconsin Education Association Council. (2011). Special education inclusion.

 Retrieved March 22, 2014 from

 http://www.weac.org/issues_advocacy/resource_pages_on_issues_one/special_ed

 ucation/special_education_inclusion.aspx
- Yell, M. (2006). *The law and special education*. Columbus, OH: Prentice Merrill Prentice-Hall.
- Zigmond, N. (2003). Where should students with disabilities receive special education services? Is one place better than another? *The Journal of Special Education*, 37(3), 193-199. doi:10.1177/00224669030370030901
- Zigmond, N., Jenkins, J., Fuchs, L., Deno, S., Fuchs, D., Baker, J., Jenkins, L., & Coutinho, M. (1995). Special education in restructured schools: Findings from three multi-year studies. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 76(7), 531-540. Retrieved from http://pdkintl.org/publications/kappan/

Zigmond, N., Kloo, A., & Volonino, V. (2009). What, where, how? Special education in the climate of full inclusion. *Exceptionality*, 17, 189-204.

doi:10.1080/09362830903231986

Appendix A: Semistructured Guide for Phone Interviews

Demographics

- 1. How many children do you have?
- 2. How many are diagnosed with ASD?
- 3. How old is your child with ASD?
- 4. Is the child in question male or female?
- 5. What is your ethnicity?
 - a. African American
 - b. Asian
 - c. Caucasian
 - d. Hispanic
 - e. Other
- 6. What is your age?

Interview Guide

- 1. What are your experiences regarding the inclusion model of education?
- 2. How would you describe your role in the inclusion model of education?
- 3. What are your experiences with regard to role conflict in the inclusion model?
- 4. What kinds of stressors do parents of children with ASD experience when working with the educational system?
- 5. How does stress affect the amount and type of your participation in the inclusion model?
- 6. Do you have anything you would like to share with other parents working with the inclusion model?